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This is Ellies first step to delivering 
a fully integrated report

Annual Integrated Report

Scope of this

report

Ellies Holdings Limited (Ellies) is a leading South African 

manufacturer, wholesaler, importer and distributor in 

diversified sectors, including consumer goods, renewable 

energy and power and telecommunications infrastructure, 

servicing the local and African market. A detailed group 

structure can be found on page 4 of this integrated report.

This report covers the period 1 May 2011 to 30 April 2012. 

The previous year’s report was published in October 2011. 

The report deals with the annual financial statements, 

operational and strategic overview, as well as non-financial 

highlights.

Ellies will for the first time be reporting according to a self-

declared level C, integrated annual report, in accordance with 

the Global Reporting Initiatives standards (GRI G3). As this is 

the first integrated report produced by the group, this report 

has not been externally assured, however an assurance 

process will be put in place going forward. The GRI Index can 

be found on the company’s website. This is the first step in the 

process to deliver a fully integrated report to stakeholders.

The annual financial statements can be found on 

pages 49 to 92 of this report and have been audited by PKF 

(Jhb) Inc., the group’s external auditors. The independent 

auditors’ report can be found on page 52 of this report.

The financial statements were prepared in accordance 

with the International Financial reporting Standards (IFRS), 

the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, 

regulations of the JSE Limited (JSE) and recommendations 

of King III.

Throughout this report Ellies has highlighted case studies, 

based on the following: BladeRoom (page 2), Elltrix (page 13), 

Project Power Save (page 20), the rebranding of both Ellies 

and Megatron (page 26) as well as the Store-within-a-store 

concept (page 45). The case studies are aimed at providing 

more details around these subjects.

As stated in the Ellies 2011 annual report, costs saved on the 

2011 report were redirected and made available to the Ellies 

Engage initiative. A detailed CSI report, covering the Ellies 

Engage initiatives of the year under review, can be found on 

pages 42 to 44 of this report.

Any queries regarding this integrated report or its contents 

should be directed to:

Irwin Lipworth 

Tel: 011 490 3817

94 Eloff Street Ext

Village Deep

Johannesburg, 2001

Email: irwin.lipworth@ellies.co.za
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Background

The company behind the BladeRoom 

Group has over 20 years’ experience 

in designing and producing mission 

critical modular facilities for blue-

chip and government clients world-

wide. The organisation began in 

the catering field, deploying large-

scale modular kitchens for events 

such as the Olympics and for the 

UK government. In 2002 the British 

Army commissioned their expertise 

in precise control of pressure 

regimes, utilisation of free outside 

air and extensive filtration systems 

to build a turnkey operating theatre 

to be deployed in Basra. Since 

then 65 operating theatres have 

been delivered around the world. 

A need for highly filtered, free air 

cooling in the data centre world was 

identified and led to the invention 

and development of the BladeRoom 

system.

Energy saving

The design features of the product 

resulted in a critical benefit 

for customers’ energy savings. 

BladeRoom offers a product with a 

proven Power Usage Effectiveness 

(PUE) of 1.20 in comparison 

with other Johannesburg data 

centres, which have a PUE of 1.9. 

The BladeRoom modules are 

manufactured in the UK using 

intelligent Building Management 

Systems (BMS) to directly match 

the free air cooling to the demand 

of the IT, which reduces the energy 

consumption of the data centre. 

This combined with intelligent 

fire suppression; N+1 redundancy 

on all components and the quick 

manufacturing and deployment times 

makes this a market leading product.

BladeRoom and Megatron

The Telecoms Division of Megatron 

Federal has been appointed as 

BladeRoom’s Integration Partners 

for Africa, making Megatron the 

only supplier of this product on the 

continent. The first BladeRoom in 

Africa was completed by Megatron as 

a proof of concept project in January 

2012 and is in the process of being 

sold. Many other negotiations are 

taking place with potential customers 

around Africa.

Awards 

Megatrons’ design for this data 

centre won the most innovative 

design in its category at the World 

Data Centre awards which were 

hosted in London in December 2011. 

The award recognised Megatron’s 

achievement in innovation in the 

medium data centre arena, with the 

establishment of Africa and South 

Africa’s first green data park in 

Centurion.

Case study: one

DATA CENTRE
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The Ellies Group was established in 1979 in Johannesburg, 

by founder Ellie Salkow, with only five employees. Today Ellies 

comprises two divisions, the Consumer Goods and Services 

division and the Infrastructure division. The Consumer 

Goods and Services division is the largest manufacturer, 

importer, wholesaler and distributor of television reception-

related electronic products as well as domestic electronic 

and industrial audio products and employees in excess of 

1 400 individuals. The Consumer Goods and Services division 

offer services to retail, furniture, hardware and independent 

market places in Southern Africa, with exports into Africa, 

Europe and Australia. The group controls the packaging, 

marketing, sale and distribution of both its own manufactured 

and imported products. 

In May 2008 Ellies acquired Megatron Federal, which now 

forms Ellies’ Infrastructure division. This division offers a 

wide range of products and services in the field of power 

generation, transmission, distribution, construction and 

telecommunications. The company’s key focus is the 

manufacturing of transformers, medium voltage withdrawable 

and fixed pattern switchgear, diesel generator sets, miniature 

sub-stations and sheet metal products, with services 

that include: engineering and installation, construction, 

complete outdoor yard solutions and civil building works. 

In November 2011, Megatron acquired the Andrews Towers 

business from Commscope in America.

In 2010 Ellies established In-Toto Solutions, in partnership 

with Intoto Technology Investments, specialising in both 

infrastructure and renewable energy projects in the 

Government and Corporate sectors.

Ellies holds a 45% vested interest in SkyeVine as a joint 

venture with Q-KON. SkyeVine’s core business is satellite-

based broadband designed for the home user and small 

enterprise markets. 

The group was listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange’s 

(JSE) Alternative Exchange (AltX) on 5 September 2007, under 

Ellies Holdings Limited (ELI). In November 2010 the group 

moved to the Main Board of the JSE, listed as part of the 

“Electronics & Electrical” sector.

The group currently has a level 6 (Value Add) BEE rating and 

the management team are in the process of putting a plan in 

place to improve this rating over the next two years. The group 

is also ISO 9001:2008 certified.

Group 

overview

The group was established in 1979 
with only five employees

Ellies Holdings Limited
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Group structure

63% 37%CONTRIBUTION TO REVENUE

Ellies/Elsat
Elsat Rentals
Ellies Corporate
Ellies Renewable Energy
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Megatron Federal: 
• Power Products

• Infrastructure Products

• Telecommunications

ELLIES
• Port Elizabeth

• East London

• Bloemfontein

• Nelspruit

• Part of Durban

MEGATRON FEDERAL
• Four new factories 

built in Chloorkop

• Office park

•  Distribution and Logistics

•  Sales and Merchandising 

• Marketing and design

•  Manufacturing and Engineering

• Research and Development

• Packaging

• Manufacturing

•  Turnkey projects

•  International partnerships

Consumer Goods 
and Services (page 5) Infrastructure (page 8)

PROPERTIES (PTY) LTD(PTY) LTD

Group overview (continued)
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The distribution and logistics department employ 172 

employees.

Marketing and Design

This department was also in charge of the rebranding of Ellies 

this year. Not only did Ellies Holdings undergo a rebranding 

exercise, but the entire product range has been rebranded. 

The rationale behind the rebranding was to strengthen the 

brand, as well as create stronger brand awareness. The new 

branding is currently being rolled-out throughout the country.

The marketing and design department employ 13 employees.

Manufacturing and Engineering 

Ellies has a dedicated R&D department with experienced 

engineers, which holds patents for many of its manufactured 

products. The facility comprises three key manufacturing 

divisions:

Aluminium and plastics manufacturing
Product development and the manufacturing of antennae 

using specialised machinery.

Consumer Goods and Services

Distribution and Logistics

The group maintains extensive warehousing throughout 

Southern Africa to ensure ‘just-in-time’ deliveries to 

customers. These warehouses store products manufactured 

by the group as well as imported goods, with sufficient 

inventory to best meet orders processed.

Ellies operates its own vehicle fleet and uses courier services 

that specialise in deliveries to retail, furniture chains and 

independents in rural areas. These courier services have 

offices on site at Ellies head office in Johannesburg.

Most goods are delivered to customers anywhere in southern 

Africa with a 48-hour turnaround, with extensive container-

loading facilities for expediting export orders. The company’s 

forwarding and clearing agents have offices on site at head 

office.

The distribution and logistics department employ 

163 employees.

Sales and Merchandising

The sales force comprises over 170 sales representatives, 

managers, product knowledge representatives and 

merchandisers throughout southern Africa. The group’s 

six key customer areas are:

• Retail chain stores

• Furniture chain stores

• Hardware chain stores

• Independent stores

• Exports

• Corporate

Sales and Merchandising 

White 53%
African 21%
Indian 14%
Coloured 12%

Male 76%
Female 24%

Distribution and Logistics 

African 55%
White 20%
Coloured 18%
Indian 7%

Male 85%
Female 15%

Marketing and Design 

White 92%
African 8%

Male 54%
Female 46%
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Group overview (continued)

Light metal manufacturing
This sub-division manufactures the following products in an 

advanced light metal-fabricating plant:

• Furniture

• Computer stands

• Wall brackets

• TV, VCR, LCD and plasma mounts

• Shelving 

• Satellite and terrestrial mounting brackets

• Satellite dishes

Ellies manufactures the above products catering for both 

coastal and inland conditions using steel, stainless steel 

and galvanised materials. Ellies has its own tool and die 

manufacturing capabilities and powder coating plant, 

ensuring self-sufficiency. The group also has its own 

screen-printing capability, giving it the flexibility to meet 

the requirements of the original equipment manufacturers 

(OEMs) to which it exports products. The company also 

completed the installation of a galvanising plant that enables 

it more control over manufacturing volumes and costs.

Electronics manufacturing
The plant incorporates advanced manufacturing facilities for 

surface mount devices (SMDs), amplifiers, remote extenders, 

video senders and other related electronic products using 

‘pick and place’ SMD machines. Ellies manufactures a large 

range of internationally renowned remote control extenders 

under its own brand name ‘Remote Blaster’.

The manufacturing and engineering department employs 183 

employees.

Research and Development

Many of Ellies’ products are designed and manufactured 

in South Africa. These are developed and supported by our 

Research and Development Department. Some examples 

of these products are: the market leading Wizard Remote 

Blaster, TV antennas, Wizard Audio/Video Sender, mini-

subs, transformers and telecommunication solutions. The 

company strives to continually re-invent itself by developing 

products relevant to its core business. This includes related 

industries such as wireless remote extenders, surge and 

security products.

The research and development department employs five 

employees.

Packaging

Ellies has one of the largest packaging plants in the country, 

with specialised facilities including cryovacing and plastic 

blister packaging. An in-house marketing division creates and 

implements innovative strategies to ensure continued growth 

and brand awareness. Artwork for packaging and promotions 

is designed by the in-house art department.

The packaging department employs 55 employees.

Packaging

African 73%
Coloured 24%
White 3%

Male 18%
Female 82%

Electronics Manufacturing

African 83%
White 9%
Coloured 7%
Indian 1%

Male 56%
Female 44%

Research and Development

White 60%
African 20%
Coloured 20%

Male 100%
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Ellies geographical footprint

Mission statement
We at Ellies endeavour to:
•  Put a human face on our operations and continually enhance confidence 

in our products and services.
•  Provide value to customers through providing useful products, engineered 

to exceptional standards.
•  Be socially responsible and remain mindful of all stakeholders.

ZAMBIA

ZIMBABWE

ZAMBIQUEMOZZZA E

Lusaka

reHaraa

Windhoek

Cape Town Port Elizabeth

East London

Durban

Maputo

Nelspruuitu

Pooolokwaneo

Upingtong

JoJoJohannesburgJo

Pretttoriato

Gaborone

Bloemfontein

Bulawayo

ELLIES OWNED

WAZILANDSWSWSS

BOTSWANA

NAMIBIA

SOUTH
AFRICA

ELLIES AGENT
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Group overview (continued)

Infrastructure division

Megatron Federal offers a wide range of products through 

ten impressive manufacturing plants in Johannesburg, 

and distributor agreements with numerous global industry 

leaders, resulting in a company which is able to provide 

a diverse range of products. This, coupled with extensive 

design and development capabilities together with a solid 

project management track record, forms a company which is 

able to provide tailor-made turnkey solutions to virtually any 

infrastructure project within their fields of expertise.

The Megatron Federal business is structured into three 

primary business units, namely:

• Power products

• Infrastructure products

• Telecommunications

Power products 

This business unit is a manufacturer and distributor of a 

range of power-related products including:

• Medium Voltage Withdrawable Switchgear

• Medium Voltage Fixed Pattern Switchgear (Ormazabal)

• Low Voltage Switchgear

• Miniature sub-stations

• Generators

• Distribution Transformers

Infrastructure products

The infrastructure products unit offers turnkey project services 

in the following key areas of infrastructure development:

Project Finance
The project finance team provide in-house project finance, 

export credit finance as well as IPP programmes to Megatron’s 

customers.
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Civils and Construction
The Construction division specialises in turnkey construction 

services in civil and commercial construction as well as the 

property development market.

Electrical and Instrumentation
The electrical and instrumentation division executes electrical 

and instrumentation works for various clients in the Mining, 

Energy, Food, Petrochemical, Power and Heavy Industrial 

Sectors in South Africa and certain parts of Africa.

Water Infrastructure
• Fresh water 

• Waste water

• Stormwater

Power
This sub-division provides turnkey project solutions, 

incorporating engineering and design solutions, with a focus 

on medium and high voltage electrical systems. In-house 

expertise and product ranges sets this division apart, along 

with competitive lead times and pricing.

Types of projects undertaken:

• Complete containerised sub-stations

• Supply, installation and commissioning of PFC solutions

• Supply and installation of complete sub-stations up 

to 400kV

• Supply and installation of power transformers

Renewable Energy
In keeping with the company’s philosophy of providing 

infrastructure solutions, this division offers turnkey project 

services for power generation projects which are based upon 

renewable energy technologies and provides a complete 

service offering including: design, finance, supply of an 

extensive range of products and services, construction, grid 

connection, commissioning and operation and maintenance.

Megatron Federal Telecommunications
The Megatron Federal telecommunications division offers a 

range of products and services engineered specifically for the 

telecommunications industry, including:

Towers
The Towers division, incorporating Andrews Towers, offers 

a diverse family of innovative, modular, lattice tower 

configurations for any client application requiring unmatched 

strength and versatility, standard fabrication techniques, 

cost-effective transport and ease of field assembly.

Off-grid and “green sites”
The off-grid and “green site” facilitate the deployment of 

infrastructure such as base transceiver stations in remote 

areas which do not have access to the electricity grid and 

is an attractive alternative to diesel powered sites. These 

sites utilise proven solar technology which can be mated 

with wind generators and the solar modules have a 25-year 

performance guarantee.

Data Centres
BladeRoom System

• Highly efficient modular design

• PUE of 1.20 in Johannesburg at tier 4 specifications

• Reduced energy costs

• BladeRoom data centres can be up and running in 

24 weeks compared to 72 weeks for brick and mortar 

systems

• Capital expenditure is reduced by approximately 50%

Core design principles

• Extract maximum heat from the data hall

• Deploy mechanical cooling as rarely as possible

• Utilise ambient air with evaporative cooling in order to 

achieve maximum free air cooling

More information on BladeRoom can be found on page 2 of 

this integrated annual report.

Diesel Generator Optimisation
Megatron Federal, in conjunction with General Electric, has 

developed a solution for off-grid diesel generator-powered 

sites, taking particular aim at the Africa telecommunications 

sector. This unique product has been made possible through 

the development of innovative battery technology together 

with patented Megatron Federal technology. The purpose 

of the system is to significantly reduce the operating costs 

associated with running off-grid sites which are traditionally 

powered by diesel generators throughout Africa.
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Megatron geographical footprint

Group overview (continued)

PROJECTS

DUBAI

JORDAN

REUNION

MAURITIUS

MADAGASCARZIMBABWE

BOTSWANA

LETSOTHOSOUTH 
AFRICA

NAMIBIA

ANGOLA ZAMBIA

MALAWI

TANZANIA
DR CONGO

CONGO

CAMEROON

CENTRAL 
AFRICAN 

REPUBLIC

SOUTH 
SUDAN ETHOPIA

SUDANCHAD

NIGERIA

NIGER
MALI

CÔTE 
D’IVOIRE

GHANA

GUINEA

SENEGAL

MAURITANIA

ALGERIA

MOROCCO

LIBYA EGYPT

ALSO IN:

KENYA
UGANDA

BENIN
TOGO

Kinshasa

Harare

Bulawayo

Lusaka

Windhoek

Lagos

Bamako

MEGATRON OFFICES
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Milestones: Inception to present 

1979 1985

1988 -1996 1987

19951990s

2007
2000s

2011 2010

2012

2009

2008

Established by current 

Chairman, Ellie Salkow in 

Johannesburg, Gauteng with 

five employees, selling only 

television aerials

Cape Town 

branch opened by 

Raymond Berkman

Open second 

branch in 

Durban 

Ellies and Elsat 

become household 

brands while the 

group continues 

to expand the 

product range 

to include: 

audio, telephone 

accessories and 

domestic electrical

Altech UEC 

and Ellies enter 

into distribution 

agreement for Set-Top 

boxes in anticipation of the 

Digital Terrestrial Television 

(DTT) roll-out 

Issue maiden dividend.

Moved to the Main Board 

of the JSE – “Electronics 

and Electrical” sector

Ellies Renewable Energy assists 

Eskom with Project Power Save, 

removing 170 MegaWatts (MW) 

from the national grid

Branches established in Port Elizabeth, 

Windhoek, Polokwane, Gaborone, Nelspruit, 

East London and Bloemfontein 

Group broadens product 

range to include remote 

controls and various other 

accessories

Lists on the JSE 

Alternative 

Exchange (AltX) 

with 908 employees 

Established Ellies Lighting division. 

November: Establish renewable 

energy initiative through 

unique store within a store 

concept

Elsat founded with the 

advent of satellite TV into 

the South African market

Ellies acquires Megatron Federal
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Key indicators 

• Market leader in aerials, satellite, domestic electrical 

and industrial audio

• Well-geared for DTT roll-out

• Innovative and entrepreneurial spirit key 

to organisation

• Excellent market knowledge

• Well-diversified business and customer base

• High market share

• Well-positioned in the energy-saving space

• Southern African logistics footprint

Positive Negative

• Leading edge technology

• Turnkey solutions

• Multi-national clients

• Cross-border initiatives

• Entrepreneurial spirit

• Innovative design

• Diversified skills

Positive Negative

• Lack of infrastructural spend in South Africa

• Down turn in the commodities sector

• Currency fluctuations

• Labour action

• Depressed consumer spending

• “Just-in-Time” inventory demands resulting in higher 

inventory levels
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Ellies once again at the 
leading edge

EcoMetrix is one of Africa’s most 

well-known carbon consultancy 

businesses. Ellies and EcoMetrix 

have successfully launched two 

carbon credit programmes. 

One is focused on all solar 

thermal technologies including 

solar water heaters, heat pumps 

and concentrated solar thermal 

plants. The second encompasses 

all photovoltaic or solar panel 

installations. 

These programmes will allow Ellies 

and other local businesses to access 

financial rewards for greening 

solutions under the auspices 

of the United Nations.

The objective of Carbon Credit 

trading is to fund projects that 

reduce emissions by issuing a 

tradable certificate for every tonne 

not emitted. These certificates are 

sold to overseas entities with a legal 

obligation to reduce their emissions. 

With the world’s energy needs 

growing rapidly, leading financial 

institutions are predicting that carbon 

credits will become one of the world’s 

most traded commodities.

As part of this process the two 

programmes have been granted 

authorisation to assist project 

developers in several southern 

African countries including: South 

Africa, Namibia, Mozambique, 

Swaziland and Lesotho.

The programmes are open, turnkey 

and supplier agnostic, meaning 

that, for the first time, all project 

developers can participate on a single 

platform in an easy and transparent 

manner whilst remaining in full 

control of their carbon credits. 

There are no requirements to use 

a specific technology or to sell the 

credits up front, in fact the only rules 

for participation are those set down 

by the United Nations to ensure the 

environmental integrity of the system.

Case study: two

RENEWABLE ENERGY
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Ellie Salkow began his 
career as a salesman and 
honed his entrepreneurial 
skills early on in South 
Africa and later in the 
United Kingdom. In 1979, 
he started Ellies and with 
great entrepreneurial 
spirit and flair, he soon 
recognised, exploited and 
created new opportunities 
within the market.
Years with the group: 
33 years 

Wayne has been a loyal 
member of the Ellies team 
for over 22 years, elevating 
himself from his initial 
position as an assistant 
in dispatch and the Ellies 
factory to General Manager 
in 1993. Wayne was 
appointed in 1997 as the 
Operations Director and 
was promoted to the CEO 
of Ellies Holdings in 2007. 
Years with the group: 
23 years

After qualifying with Fisher 
Hoffman Levenberg in 
1971, Mike and his brother 
established the renowned 
clothing group, Goophee’s. 
After serving the Fintech 
Group for more than 
13 years as divisional 
Managing Director, Mike 
joined Ellies in 1997 as 
Group Financial Manager. 
After six months he was 
promoted to Financial 
Director.
Years with the group: 
15 years

Raymond worked as a 
Department Manager for 
Woolworths for a number 
of years before joining 
the Ellies team in 1980. 
In 1985 he pioneered 
by establishing Ellies 
Cape Town as the first 
official branch of Ellies 
Electronics. 
Years with the group: 
32 years

Ryan qualified at Rand 
Afrikaans University with 
a B Comm in Accounting 
and a Higher Diploma in 
Tax Law. He co-founded 
Megatron Engineering 
Proprietary Limited with 
his father, Dedreich Otto, 
in 1999. Ryan negotiated 
the sale of the Megatron 
Federal group to Ellies 
Holdings Limited and has 
served on the board since 
15 July 2008. 
Years with the group: 
4 years

Andrew is a founder and 
director of Java Capital 
Proprietary Limited and 
has more than 20 years’ 
experience in mergers 
and acquisitions and 
capital markets. 
Years with the group: 
5 years

Raymond Berkman

Executive Director (56)

Ryan Otto

Executive Director (32) – B Com, H Dip Tax (RAU)

Andrew Brooking 

Non-Executive Director (48) – BA LLB (Wits), 

LLM (Notre Dame, USA)

Ellie Salkow 

Chairman of the Board and founder (59)

Wayne Samson 

Chief Executive Officer (48)

Michael Levitt 

Chief Financial Officer (64) – B Com (Wits), CA (SA)

Board of directors
Leadership
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Oliver has more than 
21 years’ experience in 
the technology industry, 
16 of these with IBM and 
held various executive 
positions, including 
General Manager of 
the IBM PC Business 
for Africa. He currently 
serves as General 
Manager at IBM South 
Africa, a role he assumed 
in July 2009. 
Years with the group: 
1 year

Malcolm has had a 
career of 23 years in the 
IT industry. Since 1985, 
Malcolm held numerous 
senior positions with 
various major companies. 
Malcolm left full-time 
employment to start his 
own business in 1998. 
The company he formed, 
MG and Associates, is 
an executive search and 
niche recruitment and ICT 
consultancy.
Years with the group: 
3 years

Mano was appointed to 
the Ellies board effective 
25 April 2012. Mano 
holds a Mechanical 
Engineering degree from 
the University of Durban-
Westville. He is currently 
Chief Sourcing Officer at 
Edcon and has extensive 
business and general 
management experience. 
Years with the group: 
1 year

Fikile Sharon Mkhize

Independent Non-Executive Director (40) – Masters in 

Business Leadership 

(UNISA)

Mano Moodley

Independent Non-Executive Director (53)  

BEng (Mechanical)

Oliver Fortuin 

Lead Independent Non-Executive Director (45)

Malcolm Goodford 

Independent Non-Executive Director (45)

Executive directors Non-executive directors

Appointed to the board 
as an independent non-
executive director. She 
holds a Masters Degree 
in Business Leadership 
from the University of 
South Africa, and is 
currently the Group 
Manager for IT at Mutual 
& Federal, responsible for 
Finance and Compliance 
Risk.
Years with the group: 
1 year
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Executive management

Barry Shum (50)

Nelspruit and Swaziland

Length of service: 25 years

Grant Melville (46)

Natal

Length of service: 24 years

Grant Davis (51)

Port Elizabeth

Length of service: 23 years

Mike Miller (67)

Technical

Length of service: 21 years

Mark Richter (44)

Corporate division

Length of service: 21 years

Gary Gillingham (51)

Electrical and Lighting Products

Length of service: 19 years

Gary Wiltshire (41)

Renewable Energy

Length of service: 17 years

Teresa Moldenhauer (40)

East London

Length of service: 17 years

Peter van Vuuren (38)

Botswana

Length of service: 15 years

Gavin Melville (45)

Polokwane

Length of service: 15 years

Micheal Livanos (43)

Engineering

Length of service: 11 years

Bernard Arnold (34)

Bloemfontein

Length of service: 11 years

Vic Haskins (53)

Finance

Length of service: 10 years

Clinton Olckers (44)

Namibia

Length of service: 3 years

Irwin Lipworth (36)

Finance 

Length of service: 2 years

Consumer Goods division Infrastructure division

Carlos Fidalgo (47)

Megatron Group – Strategic Planning/

General Manager

Length of service: 12 years

Clint de Lange (33)

Power Products

Length of service: 6 years

Graham Owen (64)

Finance

Length of service: 6 years

Lyle Timmerman (30)

Power Products

Length of service: 2 years

Jean-Pierre Ford (33)

Power Projects

Length of service: 2 years

Andrew Quinn (40)

SHEQ

Length of service: 2 years

Petrus Maritz (45)

Procurement

Length of service: 2 years

Romano Bevilacqua (38)

Telecoms

Length of service: 1 year

Leadership (continued)
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Chairman’s and Chief Executive Officer’s report

It is with pleasure that we present Ellies’ first integrated 

annual report for the year ended 30 April 2012. 

Overview

Ellies is a company with innovation and entrepreneurial 

spirit etched into its foundation. It is exactly these traits 

which have attributed to the successful year under review. 

The decision to enter the lighting, bulb, energy-efficient 

shower-heads and renewable energy field has seen Ellies 

launch the innovative store within a store concept, a concept 

started in the Strubensvalley Builders Warehouse with 

massive success. The concept has been rolled-out to 31 other 

Builders Warehouse stores, in the Gauteng and KwaZulu-

Natal Provinces, at the date of mailing this report, of which 

seven were rolled-out in the 2012 financial period, and plans 

are afoot to roll the concept forward into a further 17 stores in 

the Western Cape Province. 

This idea lead to the establishment of the Ellies Renewable 

Energy (ERE) division which saw Ellies enter the renewable 

energy space, offering a complete suite of products from 

solar water heating systems, geyser and pool pump timers 

to CFL’s, LED’s and energy-efficient shower heads. It was this 

move into the renewable energy space that allowed Ellies to 

tender and secure Project Power Save contracts from Eskom, 

to date removing a total of 170MW from the national grid and 

45MW in the current reporting period, while visiting a total of 

approximately 720 000 homes across the country.

Innovations in new product development and entering and 

bringing new product lines on board, ensured that Ellies was 

able to maintain market share.

The local operating context continues to present a challenging 

retail environment due to a depressed consumer market, 

within these constraints, growth in domestic electrical 

products was achieved. 

Our infrastructure segment, Megatron, performed 

exceptionally well. In line with the innovative and 

entrepreneurial spirit within the holding company, Megatron 

has transformed itself due to a reduction of infrastructure 

and municipal spend in South Africa. Megatron perceived this 

Overall increase in group 

revenue 30 %
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Chairman’s and Chief Executive Officer’s report (continued)

as a risk to growth and repositioned itself to deliver turnkey 

projects in Africa. Potential payment risk is reduced through 

upfront fees payable in South Africa, prior to final shipment 

and installation of the project.

Ellies Engage is the group’s Corporate Social Investment 

programme. This programme allows Ellies to give back 

to the communities in which it operates, and among the 

programmes successfully completed this year is the blanket 

drive where 23 500 blankets were distributed to the needy 

across the country as well as showerhead assembling by 

various disabled communities, for the Project Power Save 

contracts. 

Operational review

Although the retail environment remains challenging Ellies 

is proud to report that market share, in all Ellies divisions, 

was maintained, with market share gained by the consumer 

electrical business. It remains the aim of the group to 

achieve a 50% market share in all our product ranges. 

The Consumer Goods division achieved a full-year profit 

before interest and taxation growth of 32% to R164.6 million 

(2011: R124.8 million). The ERE division had successfully 

completed a third of phase one of the Project Power Save 

initiative by year-end. At Ellies we are continually focused on 

how we can improve our product offerings to better the lives 

of our customers, and it is these new products launched in 

2012 that has considerably impacted the top line growth of 

this division.

It has been a successful year for Megatron with the division’s 

first BladeRoom Data Centre commissioned and completed 

in January 2012. The division also acquired Andrews Towers, 

effective on 1 November 2011. Andrews Towers is one of the 

most recognised brands in the global telecommunications 

industry and is a comfortable fit into the already existing 

Megatron Federal business. Megatron have taken over the 

complete Andrews Towers team; all personnel, designs, 

patents and tools in order to avoid disruption in the design, 

manufacturing, marketing and delivery of the current range. 

Alan Jones, former Vice President and MD of Andrews 

Wireless Solutions Africa, joined the Megatron team 

to manage and further grow this business. We would like 

to welcome the Andrews Towers team – we trust we will have 

a long and successful relationship.

Megatron has competencies in renewable tele-

communications solutions, especially applicable in remote 

areas of Africa, often where mining operations or industry 

need to establish operations. Often coupled with a renewable 

telecommunications solution, transformers are also required 

and Megatron is able to design, build, transport and effect 

transformers of all sizes and abilities through its state of 

the art manufacturing plant. New technology development, 

innovation and associations with leading international brands, 

remains key to Megatron’s success. 

Although infrastructure spend in South Africa has not been 

rolled-out as anticipated, Megatron has substituted this by 

focusing on African operations, with most of their contracts 

rolled-out for multi-nationals, especially mining houses, in 

Africa, where the infrastructure spend is remarkably higher 

than in South Africa.

The Megatron acquisition is starting to bear fruit for the 

group as this division delivered a stellar set of results, 

reporting a 158% growth in revenue to R559.2 million 

(2011: R216.5 million) and an increase in profit before 

interest and tax of 299% to R91.1 million in the current 

period (2011: R22.8 million). The improved earnings growth 

is mainly attributable to the improvement in product 

offerings across various sectors in which Megatron operate. 

To further enhance market penetration, the division upgraded 

production facilities and extended its skills base, which has 

resulted in increased orders. The segment contributed a total 

of 33.0% to group revenue, compared to 16.5% contributed in 

the corresponding period.

Group financial review

Overall the group grew revenue by 30% to R1.7 billion from 

the previous year’s R1.3 billion. EBITDA rose impressively 

by 71% to R273.4 million (2011: R159.8 million). Ellies 

boasts an EBITDA margin of 15.9% compared to 12.1% 

for 2011. The increase is primarily as a result of improved 

margins in the Infrastructure division. PBT rose by 73% 

to R230.0 million (2011: R133.3 million) as a result of 

improved gross profit margins and capacity utilisation, 

despite a loss from an associate amounting to R4.4 million. 

Headline earnings per share saw a notable increase of 73.3% 

to 54.45 cents compared to the prior period of 31.42 cents.

The group’s NAV and NTAV have shown steady growth 

increasing by 28.0% and 44.2%, respectively.

Cash flow from operating activities saw a decline in the period 

under review, as a result of working capital requirements 

to ensure sustainable growth in Megatron as well as the 

correctly-positioning stock demands for Project Power Save. 

A more detailed report on the group’s financials can be found 

in the Chief Financial Officer’s report commencing on page 21 

of this integrated report.

Changes to the board

Mahlubi Mazwi resigned as an independent non-executive 

director of the Ellies board effective 11 November 2011. 

The Ellies board would like to thank Mahlubi for his time 

served on the board and wish him all the best.

The Ellies board would also like to welcome to the board 

of directors Mano Moodley, appointed 25 April 2012 and 

Fikile Mkhize, appointed post-year-end (1 June 2012), both 

appointed as independent non-executive directors. We look 

forward to a long and successful relationship. CV’s for these 

directors can be found on pages 14 and 15 of this integrated 

report.

Leadership (continued)
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Dividends

Taking into account prevailing circumstances and future cash 

requirements, the board has declared a dividend payment of 

10 cents per share.

Prospects

The Ellies management team remain optimistic on the growth 

prospects of the group through continued diversification 

into new product development and ventures, with a focus 

on infrastructure development and expansion of the group’s 

customer base.

Ellies expects the roll-out of new phases of the Eskom 

Project Power Save programme, the implementation of the 

Digital Terrestrial Television (DTT) migration throughout 

southern Africa, further developments in the “Green store 

within a store” concept and expansion in the lighting sector 

to contribute meaningfully to the consumer segment of the 

business.

Megatron’s growth is expected to continue, and is supported 

by its current order book and new business opportunities in 

South Africa and the rest of Africa. These new opportunities 

include: the development of alternate power solutions, 

telecommunication towers and data centre infrastructure. 

Substantial alliances with international technology and 

product leaders in industrial battery power storage, modular 

data centres, telecommunications and telecommunication 

towers have been secured.

Megatron’s traditional business of customised solutions for 

power generation, transmission and distribution for utilities 

continues to recover well.

Diesel Generator Optimisation (DGO) is a technology invented 

in-house by Megatron engineers where the technology 

optimises the use of diesel generators in mobile technology 

resulting in reduced running time to extend service intervals 

and at the same time reducing diesel consumption. 

All related patents have been licensed exclusively to 

Megatron. The technology makes use of General Electric 

(GE) Durathon batteries which have been extensively tested 

in New York. Megatron has identified many applications for 

this technology in Africa and appetite from corporates is 

encouraging.

Ellies management continues to adopt a conservative 

approach towards SkyeVine, while cautiously optimistic of 

demand in this sector as additional service providers enter 

this space.

The board remains positive towards the group’s continued 

organic growth, new ventures and product opportunities, which 

continue to present themselves. The Ellies entrepreneurial 

spirit and constant drive to leading product development and 

application, will keep market share intact. Additional growth 

will come from the enhancement of our competencies which 

is a constant drive within Ellies.

Appreciation

We would like to thank our fellow directors for 

their commitment and support, our management and staff 

for their hard work, our customers, suppliers and business 

partners for their ongoing support and our advisors for their 

guidance.

Ellie Salkow  Wayne Samson 

Chairman Chief Executive Officer

15 October 2012
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PROJECT POWER SAVE

Ellies was awarded its first Eskom 

residential energy-savings contract 

in January 2012 to remove 45MW 

from the national grid. The initiative 

dubbed “Project Power Save” 

achieved this by replacing inefficient 

light bulbs and shower-heads with 

their energy-efficient counterparts, 

free of charge to the South African 

homeowner. The project was well-

supported by the public with over 

260 000 homes visited in the period 

under review. The initiative officially 

commenced on 6 February 2012 

and was scheduled to continue until 

31 March 2012. However by 

28 March 2012, the full 45MW had 

been successfully removed and 

the savings achieved by 31 March 

2012, was an impressive 53.62MW. In April 2012, Ellies announced a 

second contract was awarded to the 

company to remove a further 30MW’s. 

With the second contract Ellies would 

also install geyser timers.

Phase I of Project Power Save closed 

on 8 June 2012. The final figures 

achieved showcase the company’s 

ability to roll-out mass activities in 

residential homes across the country. 

• Energy saved = 170.5MW

• Homes visited = over 720 000 

in four months

• Almost 5 million lights swapped

• Over 3 000 new jobs created 

for installers across the country 

“Eskom thanks Ellies for their 

participation and South Africa’s 

homeowners for embracing this 

initiative. The roll-out was successful 

in the face of huge public demand 

and initial challenges normally 

associated with programmes of this 

size and complexity. The willingness 

of Ellies to partner with Eskom, and 

more than 700 000 homeowners to 

open their doors in a national drive 

towards achieving an electricity 

smart South Africa, have seen quick 

results in a very short time” says 

Andrew Etzinger, Senior General 

Manager, Integrated Demand 

Management, Eskom.

Case study: three

LIGHTBULBS

RENEWABLE ENERGY
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Chief Financial Officer’s report

Introduction

This report is intended to provide some additional insight 

on financial matters relevant, for a better understanding 

of the business and its needs, the resultant financial and 

investment position and the rationale behind the group’s 

property investment and dividend approach. 

Revenue up 30% (2011: 14%)

Consumer goods 4% (2011: 11%)

Infrastructure 158% (2011: 26%)

Increase in headline 

earnings per share 

to 54.45 cents73.3 %
During the first half of the year, the consumer sector’s 

revenue declined by some 18% largely the result of a change 

in the satellite pricing and distribution models, which did 

not impact on gross profit percentages, volumes sold or on 

market share. The turnaround is reflected in the revenue’s 

full-year growth of 4% resulting from the second-half growth 

of 27%.

The Infrastructure division’s growth in both revenue and 

operating profits was largely as a result of both a low-base 

comparative and the successes of Megaton’s diversification 

and manufacturing strategies.

Gross profit 41% (2011: 38%)

Consumer goods  45% (2011: 38%)

Infrastructure  33% (2011: 35%)

Revenue 
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Chief Financial Officer’s report (continued)

The improvement on gross profit margin in the Consumer 

good division can be attributed largely to new products, the 

introduction of lighting as a new product line and the resultant 

efficient capacity utilisation.

The infrastructure segment variance was largely due to 

product mix, contracts size and new orders.

Return on average equity

With the resultant improved capacity utilisation and thus 

improved operating profit, the resultant percentage returns 

on shareholder equity are as follows:

Megatron performance and investment 
summary

Revenue up to R559m 148%

Cost of sales up 155%

Operating costs up  73%

Capital investment – production R15m

Property – land and factory buildings R16m

2009 2010 2011 2012

PBIT – Megatron R40m R19m R23m R91m

Revenue and cost of sales increases were as a result of 

competitive and quantitative pricing while the lower operating 

cost increase was due to capacity utilisation.

Megatron was purchased in 2008 for R180 million with a NTAV 

of some R1 million at the top of the world economic cycle. 

While management is cognisant of the inconsistent results 

produced by Megatron, strategic investment continued by 

way of both skills and diversified capacities. The resultant 

foundations created have produced this expected return, with 

anticipated growth and sustainability supported by a healthy 

order book.

Megatron divisional EBITDA on total assets 

At beginning of year 34%

Average 28%

Soon after the Megatron acquisition, the onset of the declining 

world economy impacted materially on both resource mining 

in Africa and structural investments by the private, municipal 

and Government sectors and thus affecting Megatron’s core 

business. Nonetheless, the group strategically endeavoured 

to maximise and develop its exiting skill sets to diversify into 

opportune sectors, namely telecoms, data management, 

energy-saving and battery technologies, while increasing its 

local manufacturing capacity within its historic power sector. 

While the world “took-a-breather”, the Megatron division 

invested into its new diversified sectors and developed various 

new products and customer relationships in these new fields.

These strategies implemented with the ultimate objective 

of a sustainable and well-founded organisation for 

growth, necessitated investment in capital assets, skills 

and working capital. To coincide with these objectives, 

Dedreich and Ryan Otto, the founders of Megatron, 

saw fit to convert their cash vendor loan payable of 

R64 million into Ellies shares at R2.00 (while the market value 

was R1.75 at the time).

This secured the commitment by the vendors of this strategic 

acquisition. Management considered this vital to the security 

and sustainability of this major investment, even though this 

resulted in some dilution. This “dilution” did impact on the 

EPS for the period.

Ellies Properties

Rationale

The trading operations are based in all the major regions 

throughout South Africa, with manufacturing facilities based 

in Johannesburg and Chloorkop. All these facilities are vital 

and strategically located. In most cases these occupied 

premises did not fully meet Ellies’ operational requirements 

EBIT (%) 
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unless physical alterations were carried out. In all cases these 

alterations would result in improvements and better land 

utilisation for the ultimate benefit of the landlord. Ellies thus 

resolved to invest these resources into its own properties and 

therefore position itself to grow its own fixed property capital 

investment moving forward. Simply put, the replacement of 

rent with interest with the obvious benefit of an expected 

decline in interest costs (whether on a reducing capital 

base or a reduction in interest rates) while benefiting from 

the capital asset values and security of tenure and location. 

Furthermore, an additional indirect benefit accrues, being the 

potential provision of strategically-located property assets 

as security for future working capital gearing at improved 

securitised borrowing rates.

Notwithstanding the above, this strategy has no material 

impact on working capital. Property purchased is financed 

by mortgages or specific term loans against the properties. 

Internally, the property subsidiary charges rent to the 

operational divisions at a market-related return, which is 

eliminated on consolidation.

During the year an additional R15.5 million was invested into 

property development and improvements, making the total 

investment up to R56.5 million at year-end.

Cash

The cash flow statements reflects a decline of cash balances 

of R68 million. With the growth achieved, it is not surprising 

that both receivables and inventory, including WIP (work in 

progress), have grown. 

The movement of cash is summarised as follows:

Derived from net after-tax cash net profits R203 million

Net interest-bearing funding R101 million

Working capital effect on this cash (R327 million)

Consumer divisional stock including new 

lighting range (R49 million)

Project Power Save at cut-off date (R160 million)

Infrastructure division (R54 million)

Infrastructure division’s work in progress (R64 million)

Investments in fixed plant and equipment, 

property and other capital spend (R45 million)

When analysing the working capital movements, it should be 

noted that the components contributing thereto are largely 

attributed to timing, growth and organic diversification into 

lighting.

With the average rate of interest paid being 9%, the return on 

tangible assets being 21.8% (2011: 21.9%), interest-bearing 

debt to equity (gearing) being 21.0%, together with the timing 

impact, we do believe the cash position is reasonable.

Further comfort exists with the following:

• EBITDA of R273 million with an interest paid ratio of 

11.7 to 1 (2011: 13.02 to 1)

• Current ratio (current assets to current liabilities) 

being 2.41 (2011: 2.02) 

• Quick ratio (debtors and cash resources to current 

liabilities) being 1.2 (2011: 0.91) 

We do however, pay considerable attention to best business 

practices as regards gearing and dividend payouts.

Inventory and work in progress

The Ellies consumer-based customers are such that 

the requirement of “Just-in-Time” supply does put pressure 

on the levels of product stockholding necessary to provide 

the supply and services demanded. Large retail chains do not 

generally rely on “back-order”. One either supplies as ordered 

or the sale is lost. In most instances, Ellies is regarded 

as a strategic supplier. This assists with our sustainable 

and reduced risk relationships. It must be noted that the 

majority of our consumer products are “low-tech” and, as 

such, obsolescence is not an issue. Stockholding tends to 

peak during the September/October time-frame due to the 

Christmas supply needs of the retail sector.

The Megatron Infrastructure division not only carries raw 

material stock for production, stock for projects and finished 

goods, but has WIP including earthworks in its inventory 

numbers. This often does cause timing distortions at finance 

cut-off periods due to material stock figure fluctuations.

Inventory days for the group at reporting date is as follows:

• 183 days (2011: 160 days)

• 156 days (2011: 155 days) – excluding WIP

Receivables

The customer base of the Ellies group is constituted, in the 

main, by large and diversified, well-known and substantial 

blue-chip customers in the retail, industrial, mining, 

parastatal and municipal sectors as well as independent 

smaller businesses. In addition, Ellies supplies many smaller 

SME’s and independent contractors. Collection of debt is 

according to agreed terms with the groups, advance deposits 

and progress payments with the infrastructure, industrial and 

mining groups, secure pre-payments, and letters of credit 

with export customers and COD from the trade counters 

situated in all the regions of southern Africa. 

Many of the large retail groups extend their credit demand 

during the peak summer season.

Foreign currency receipts from exports are retained in 

US dollars as a hedge against any Rand currency fluctuations.
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Financial highlights
• Revenue up 30% to R1.7 billion

• Profit after taxation up 75% to R1.6 million

• NAV per share up 28% to 251.36 cents

• Headline earnings per share up 73% to 54.45 cents

• R38.9 million capital expenditure

• 10 cents per share dividend declared

Non-financial highlights
• Launch of Ellies Engage – Corporate Social Investment 

programme

• Ellies Renewable Energy launched

• Elltrix Carbon Credit Programme started with EcoMetrix

• At year-end, Ellies removed 45MW from the national 

energy grid on behalf of Eskom

• Megatron completed first BladeRoom Data Centre

• Acquired Andrews Towers – November 2011

Performance summary (continued)

Leading 
brand name

Sustainable 
growth

Diversified 
business

Strong 
geographical 

presence

Substantial 
market 

penetration

Strength 
of balance 

sheet

Experienced 
management 

team

Expansion of 
unique core 

competencies

Wealth distribution 2012

Retained profit 44%

41%

9%

4%

2%

Employees

Government

Providers of capital

Depreciation and 
amortisation

Wealth distribution 2011

Retained profit 41%

45%

8%

3%

3%

Employees

Government

Providers of capital

Depreciation and 
amortisation

Wealth distribution

Ellies Holdings as an investment
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Five-year review
year ended 30 April 2012

2012 2011  2010  2009  2008 

Statements of comprehensive income

Revenue R’000  1 711 252  1 316 055  1 156 477  976 846  701 942 

Earnings before interest, tax, 

depreciation and amortisation 

(EBITDA) R’000  273 371  159 785  132 433  131 409  96 149 

Profit from operations R’000  257 740  146 055  119 101  113 188  88 351 

Headline earnings R’000  165 259  95 356  70 350  65 166  58 977 

Statements of financial position

Cash and cash equivalents R’000 (42 212) 25 352 (13 253) (53 567) (40 266)

Total assets R’000  1 345 601  964 793  774 188  732 465  465 666 

Shareholders’ funds 

(capital and reserves) R’000  760 450  596 079  517 254  385 684  235 268 

Statements of cash flows

Cash (utilised by)/generated from 

operations R’000 (43 729)  166 000  101 805  56 902 (39 076)

Share statistics (per share)

Earnings Cents  54.53  31.49  26.19  26.42  30.25 

Headline earnings Cents  54.45  31.42  25.96  26.42  30.60 

Distribution to shareholders Cents  10.00  –  5.00  –  – 

Net asset value Cents  251.36  196.40  170.43  156.38  100.75 

Tangible net asset value Cents  177.04  122.81  96.43  68.17  80.32 

Other statistics

Shares in issue at year-end ’000 303 505 691 303 505 691 303 505 691 270 674 399 233 526 089

Weighted average number of shares 

in issue ’000 303 505 691 303 505 691 270 944 245 246 638 901 192 682 775

JSE statistics

Market capitalisation R’000  1 198 847  585 766  591 836  243 607  579 145 

Share price R  3.95  1.93  1.95  0.90  2.48 

Price : Earnings ratio Times  7.24  6.13  7.45  3.41  8.20 

Selected ratios

Profit from operations as percentage 

of revenue %  15.06  11.10  10.30  11.59  12.59 

Current asset ratio (current assets/

current liabilities) Times  2.41  2.02  2.28  1.85  1.87 

Quick asset ratio (current assets – 

inventories/current liabilities) Times  1.20  0.91  0.95  0.73  0.95 

Debt to Equity %  28.24  15.44  16.21  47.30  28.65 

Return on shareholder funds

Shareholders’ interest excluding 

non-distributable reserves %  33.20  20.99  21.12  27.38  – 
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REBRANDING

Ellies Holdings recently embarked 

on a journey to rebrand the business, 

from its brand strategy to its 

corporate identity. During the initial 

phases of the project, qualitative 

research was conducted on all key 

stakeholders’ opinion of the brand 

behaviours, architecture as well 

as the prior Ellies identity, which 

utilised the now redundant blue 

“global E”. Once all the insights had 

been gathered, a brand strategy 

was developed which re-energises 

the valuable properties of the brand 

while discarding the elements that 

did not serve to drive equity and 

other value to the mother brand or 

business. The decision was taken 

to refine the brand’s architecture 

into a structure where the Ellies 

motherbrand 

visually became the “hero”. 

Concurrently, internal business 

silos would be broken down by 

taking a “needs” or “solutions-

based” approach to our product 

development, buying, sales and 

marketing functions rather than 

focusing on specific business units 

in isolation. This has allowed the 

business operations to align with our 

new brand positioning – “Your needs 

switched on by our technology”. 

Based on the new mission, vision, 

values and overall brand positioning 

as defined by the brand strategy, 

the new Ellies and Megatron 

identities were developed. The global 

“E” previously present on the 

Ellies logo, was replaced with the 

“E stamp” now present on the logo. 

The research concluded that the 

“Ellies” word or letter mark was 

the most recognisable property of 

Case study: four

the group’s identity and it was decided 

to re-emphasise the current letter 

mark properties and to drop any 

devices that cluttered the logo and 

identity. Research also guided the 

decision to separate the Megatron 

logo from the overall Ellies mother 

brand look and feel. This was decided 

as Megatron is a business-facing 

entity and should not be visually 

aligned with the Ellies mother 

brand due to differing business and 

stakeholder objectives and with 

the recent expansion of the company, 

the new look has become a necessity 

in order to communicate effectively 

with their key stakeholders. 

Megatron’s new identity is rooted in 

a “hi-tech” look and feel and echoes 

their business outputs. Conversely, 

the result for Ellies is a cleaner, 

“faster” corporate identity that can be 

applied consistently across a variety 

of properties whilst driving equity to 

the Ellies mother brand.
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At Ellies we value the relationships 
built with our various stakeholders

Ellies stakeholders

Engaging with stakeholders
Ellies defines stakeholders as groups, people, organisations 

or communities that have a direct interest in or affect on 

the businesses of Ellies. Stakeholder evaluation has been 

undertaken at the Holdings level as well as in the Consumer 

Goods and Services and Infrastructure divisions. 

Engagement with stakeholders takes various forms including: 

informal meetings, calls, customer meetings, staff meetings 

as well as newsletters to staff and investors. 

Details of the group’s key stakeholders, the type of 

engagement, material issued raised and actions, are provided 

in the table below. 

Sustainability and corporate

governance
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Sustainability and corporate governance (continued)

Engaging with stakeholders (continued)

Key stakeholders to Ellies include:

SHAREHOLDERS

CUSTOMERS

EMPLOYEES

COMMUNITIES

SUPPLIERS

TRADE UNIONS

FINANCIERS

REGULATORS

PARASTATALS

GOVERNMENT
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Stakeholders Type of engagement Material issue raised Action taken

Shareholders Interim and final results presentation 

and teleconferences are held 

regularly, an active web-site is in 

place, dissemination of information 

through a defined contact list, calls 

with strategic shareholders if and 

when required and site visits and 

investor open days to facilities 

regularly take place 

Cash generation

Sustainability of the dividend

Site visits to various 

operations

Monthly investor update

Participation in showcases

Customers Formalised business product 

presentations, meetings, telephone 

conversations, credit checks and 

reviews

No material issues raised No actions needed

Employees Compliance with legislation:

Employment Equity Promoting equal opportunity 

and fair treatment in 

employment

Prohibition of unfair 

discrimination

Dedicated Human Resource 

department to oversee and 

monitor

Awareness of rules and 

regulations within the 

workplace

Affirmative action measures 

Basic Conditions of Employment Regulation of working time, 

holidays, leave, termination 

of employment 

Communication Communication structures 

in place to keep employees 

informed

Newsletters to staff

Open door communication 

policy

Training Employee competency 

Communities and 

civil society

Active CSI initiatives, community 

participation and assistance

No material issues raised Formalised Ellies Engage

Established a Social and 

Ethics Committee

Suppliers One-on-one business dealings, 

presentations on product features 

and correspondence 

No material issues raised Continue to maintain strong 

relationships with strategic 

suppliers

Trade unions Advance economic development, 

social justice, labour practices and 

the democratisation of the work 

place

Collective Bargaining/

Establishment of 

Bargaining Council (only in 

Manufacturing divisions)

Constant communication 

with unions

Financiers Formal meetings, updated status 

meetings and feedback sessions

On-going funding 

requirements

Continue to maintain strong 

relationships with financiers 

with sufficient facilities 

available
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Sustainability and corporate governance (continued)

Stakeholders Type of engagement Material issue raised Action taken

Regulators Meetings with regulators take place 

on a need to basis

Products are constantly 

monitored and approved by NRCS 

(National Regulatory Compulsory 

Specifications)

No material issues raised Ellies is a member of 

SADIBA

Parastatals Taxes paid No material issues raised No actions needed

Government and 

municipalities

Conference participation, meetings, 

industry body representation 

Transformation remains a 

key driver for Ellies, so too 

compliance with municipal 

regulations, especially 

where operations could 

impact on communities

Obtained a BEE verification 

certificate

Communication

Engaging with stakeholders (continued)

Communication is an integral part of 
any successful business

Stakeholder communication
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Corporate governance report

Board/Committee Roles and responsibilities Members

Ellies Holdings board Maximising shareholder value while maintaining 

good corporate governance

Ellie Salkow (Chairman)

Wayne Samson (Executive Director)

Mike Levitt (Executive Director)

Raymond Berkman (Executive Director)

Ryan Otto (Executive Director)

Andrew Brooking (Non-executive Director)

Oliver Fortuin (Lead Independent Non-Executive 

Director)

Malcolm Goodford (Non-Executive Director)

Mano Moodley (Independent Non-Executive 

Director)

Fikile Mkhize (Independent Non-Executive 

Director) 

Audit and Risk 

Committee

This committee bears responsibility to:

• Review annual financial statements

• Ensure effective internal control

• Liaise and nominate external auditors 

and their fee structure

• Evaluate the independence of the auditors

• Pre-approve contracts with external auditors 

for the provision of non-audit services

• Overview risk management processes

Fikile Mkhize (Chairperson)

Mano Moodley

Oliver Fortuin

Remuneration 

Committee

Responsibilities include:

• Remuneration strategy

• Non-executive director fees, including 

benchmarking

• Director assessments

Malcolm Goodford (Chairman)

Oliver Fortuin

Mano Moodley

Social and Ethics 

Committee

The board established the Social and Ethics 

Committee in compliance with the requirements 

of section 74 and Regulation 43(5) of the 

Companies Act which regulates Social and 

Ethical practices.

The committee, although still very new, will 

monitor:

• Social and economic development

• Good corporate citizenship

• The environment, health and public safety

• Consumer relationships

• Labour and employment

Mano Moodley (Chairman)

Wayne Samson

Oliver Fortuin

Mike Levitt

Irwin Lipworth

The directors have, accordingly, established mechanisms and 

policies appropriate to the company’s business in keeping with 

its commitment to best practices in corporate governance to 

ensure compliance with the King Code. The board reviews 

these policies as the need arises.

Ellies is fully committed to ensuring compliance with the 

principles of the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct set 

out in the King III Report. The directors recognise the need 

to conduct the enterprise with integrity and in accordance 

with generally acceptable corporate practices. This includes: 

timely, relevant and meaningful reporting to shareholders 

and other stakeholders, providing a proper and objective 

perspective of the company and its activities. 
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The formal steps implemented in this regard include the 

following:

Board of directors

The board comprises five executive directors and five non-

executive directors, four of whom are considered independent, 

including the lead independent non-executive director. Having 

regard to the current developmental stage of the company, 

the board is satisfied with its current composition, including 

the relevant board committees. The board is satisfied that 

there is an appropriate balance of power and authority so 

that no one individual or block of individuals can dominate 

decision-taking. The non-executive directors are individuals 

of calibre, credibility and have the necessary skills and 

experience to bring judgement to bear independent of 

management, on issues of strategy, performance, resources, 

transformation, diversity and employment equity, standards 

of conduct and evaluation of performance. Ellies does not 

comply with the King III Code in respect of an independent 

non-executive chairman. The chairman of the Ellies board, 

Ellie Salkow, is not independent however, the board feels that 

he offers valuable insight into both the day-to-day running 

of the business as well as strategic decisions taken at board 

level, and does so with the best interests of the shareholders 

and company in mind. To counter this, and in line with the 

King III Code, Ellies has appointed Oliver Fortuin as a Lead 

Independent Non-Executive Director to the board. 

The information needs of the board are reviewed annually 

and directors have unrestricted access to all company 

information, records, documents and property to enable them 

to discharge their responsibilities sufficiently. Efficient and 

timely methods of informing and briefing board members 

prior to board meetings have been developed and steps taken 

to identify and monitor key risk areas, key performance areas 

and non-financial aspects relevant to Ellies operations. In this 

context, directors are given information on key performance 

indicators, variance reports and industry trends.

The board has an orientation programme to familiarise 

incoming directors with the company’s operations, senior 

management and its business environment, and to induct 

them in their fiduciary duties and responsibilities. Directors 

receive further briefings on relevant new laws and regulations 

as well as on changing economic risks. New directors, 

with limited or no board experience, receive development 

and education training to inform them of their duties, 

responsibilities, powers and potential liabilities.

All directors are subject to retirement by rotation and 

re-election by Ellies Holdings’ ordinary shareholders at least 

once every three years in accordance with the company’s 

memorandum of incorporation (MOI).

The board has adopted a charter setting out its responsibilities 

including adoption of strategic plans, monitoring operational 

performance and management, determining policy and 

processes to ensure the integrity of the company’s risk 

management and internal controls, communication policy 

and director selection, orientation and evaluation.

Board meetings are held quarterly, with additional meetings 

convened when required. The board sets the strategic 

objectives of the company and determines investment and 

performance criteria. It is also responsible for the proper 

management, control, compliance and ethical behaviour of 

the businesses under its direction. The board has established 

committees to give detailed attention to certain of its 

responsibilities. These operate within defined, written terms 

of reference. The board conducts a self-evaluation of itself on 

an annual basis.

Attendance/Participation at meetings

Director Board

Audit

 and 

Risk 

Committee

Remune-

ration 

Committee

ER Salkow  5 (5)  –  2 (2)› 

WMG Samson  5 (5) 2 (2)›  2 (2)› 

MF Levitt  5 (5)  2 (2)›  2 (2)› 

RH Berkman  4 (5)  –  – 

RE Otto  4 (5)  –  – 

AC Brooking *  4 (5)  1 (1)  – 

MR Goodford @ ^  4 (5) 2 (2)  2 (2) 

MS Mazwi 1 @  1 (3)  1 (1)  – 

OD Fortuin ‡  5 (5)  2 (2)  2 (2)

M Moodley 2 @ N/A – –

FS Mkhize 3 @ # N/A – –

* Non-executive

‡ Lead Independent Non-executive 

@ Independent Non-executive

# Chairman Audit and Risk Committee 

^ Chairman Remuneration Committee 

› By invitation
1 Resigned 11 November 2011
2 Appointed 25 April 2012
3 Appointed 1 June 2012

Sustainability and corporate governance (continued)

Corporate governance report (continued)
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• Monitoring and appraising internal operating structures 

and systems to ensure that these are maintained and 

continue to contribute to the ongoing success of the 

company

The committee has fulfilled its duties during the year in 

accordance with its written terms of reference.

The Audit and Risk Committee sets in place principles related 

to engagement for non-audit services of the external auditors 

or any other practising firm of auditors, which principles 

include:

• the essence of the work to be performed may not be of 

a nature that any reasonable and informed observer 

would construe as being detrimental to good corporate 

governance or in conflict with that normally undertaken by 

the accountancy profession;

• the nature of the work being performed will not affect 

the independence of the appointed external auditors in 

undertaking the normal audit assignments;

• the work being done may not conflict with any requirement 

of IFRS or principles of good corporate governance; and

• consideration to the operational structure, internal 

standards and processes that were adopted by the 

audit firm in order to ensure that audit independence is 

maintained in the event that such audit firm is engaged 

to perform accounting or other services to its client base. 

Specifically:

• the company may not appoint a firm of auditors 

to improve systems or processes where such firm 

of auditors will later be required to express a view as 

to the functionality or effectiveness of such systems 

or processes;

• the total fee earned by an audit firm for non-audit 

services in any financial year of the company, expressed 

as a percentage of the total fee for audit services, may 

not exceed 35% without the approval of the Audit and 

Risk Committee;

• a firm of auditors will not be engaged to perform 

any management functions (e.g. acting as curator) 

without the express prior approval of the Audit and 

Risk Committee. A firm of auditors may be engaged 

to perform operational functions, including that of 

bookkeeping, when such firm of auditors are not the 

appointed external auditors of the company and work is 

being performed under management supervision.

Information relating to the use of non-audit services from 

the appointed external auditors of the company is disclosed 

in the notes to the annual financial statements. Separate 

disclosure of the amounts paid to the appointed external 

auditors for non-audit services, as opposed to audit services, 

are made in the annual financial statements.

Appointment of directors

Board appointments are conducted in a formal and 

transparent manner by the board as a whole, free from any 

dominance of any one particular shareholder.

New directors shall hold office until the next Annual General 

Meeting, at which they shall retire and become available for 

re-election. A brief curriculum vitae of each director standing 

re-election at the Annual General Meeting can be found on 

pages 14 and 15 of this Integrated Annual Report.

A board directorship continuity programme will be 

established and maintained to review the performance and 

succession planning of executive directors and continuity of 

non-executive directors.

Audit and Risk Committee

The board has established an Audit and Risk Committee 

which comprises three non-executive directors, all with 

the required degree of independence. The members are 

experienced business persons and all are financially literate. 

The committee’s primary objective is to provide the board with 

additional assurance regarding the efficacy and reliability of 

the financial information relied on by the directors, as well 

as to provide oversight in respect of risk management, in 

order to assist directors in the discharge of their duties. 

The committee provides assurance to the board that 

adequate and appropriate financial and operating controls 

are in place; that significant business, financial and other 

risks have been identified and are being suitably managed; 

and that satisfactory standards of governance, reporting and 

compliance are in operation. Within this context, the board 

remains responsible for the group’s systems of internal 

financial and operational control. The executive directors are 

charged with the responsibility of determining the adequacy, 

extent and operation of these systems.

The Audit and Risk Committee meets at least twice a year. 

Executives and managers responsible for finance and the 

external auditors (PKF), attend meetings as invitees.

Responsibilities of the committee include:

• Monitoring proposed changes in accounting policies

• Advising the board on the accounting implications of 

transactions

• Reviewing audit-related functions and recommending the 

re-appointment of the external auditors for approval by 

shareholders at the Annual General Meeting

• Assessing adherence to controls and systems within 

the company and, where necessary, recommending and 

monitoring improvements during the year

• Providing oversight in respect of risk management process 

throughout the group
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Sustainability and corporate governance (continued)

Corporate governance report (continued)

The objective of risk management is to identify, assess, 

manage and monitor the risks to which the business is 

exposed.

The most significant risks faced by Ellies are:

• impact of various macro-economic conditions;

• competitors within the industry;

• foreign currency risk.

Furthermore, the level of borrowings and the exposure to 

interest rate movement is carefully monitored and covered. 

Where relevant and with assistance from expert risk 

consultants, risks are assessed and appropriate insurance 

cover purchased for all material risks above pre-determined 

self-insured limits. Levels of cover are re-assessed annually 

in light of claim experience and events affecting the group, 

internally and externally.

To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, 

management have implemented systems of internal control, 

comprising policies, procedures, systems and information to 

assist in:

• safeguarding assets and reducing the risk of loss, error, 

fraud and other irregularities;

• ensuring the accuracy and completeness of accounting 

records and reporting;

• the timely preparation of reliable financial statements 

and information in compliance with relevant legislation 

and generally accepted accounting policies and practices.

A risk report can be found on pages 37 to page 39 of this 

Integrated Annual Report.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is mandated by the board to set 

the remuneration and incentive strategies and arrangements 

of all executive directors of both the holding company and 

main subsidiary company. In addition, the Remuneration 

Committee recommends directors’ fees payable to non-

executive directors and members of board sub-committees. 

These fees are approved by shareholders at the Annual 

General Meeting.

It is also responsible for measuring the performance of 

the executive directors in discharging their functions and 

responsibilities.

Remuneration philosophy:

Ellies is committed to its shareholders and therefore 

determines its remuneration policy and philosophy on best 

practices in the market place. The group’s directors are 

remunerated on a cost-to-company basis, which includes 

benefits such as: medical aid, life insurance, death cover, 

disability and retirement.

Increases and incentives are based on individual performance 

and measured against defined targets for the group.

The committee comprises three non-executive directors 

and is chaired by an independent non-executive director. 

The Remuneration Committee meets when necessary but 

at least once a year. The Executive Chairman, CEO and CFO 

attend meetings as invitees.

Directors’ emoluments are set out in the Directors’ report 

in the annual financial statements of the Integrated Annual 

Report.

Social and Ethics Committee

In an effort to improve on better corporate governance, 

Ellies formed a Social and Ethics Committee during the 

course of the year. At year-end no meetings had taken place. 

Ellies will deliver a detailed social and ethics report in the 

2013 Integrated Annual Report.

Directors’ dealings and professional advice

The company operates a policy (in compliance with the JSE 

Listings Requirements) of prohibiting dealings by directors 

and certain other managers in periods immediately preceding 

the announcement of its interim and year-end financial 

results, any period while the company is trading under 

cautionary announcement and at any other time deemed 

necessary by the board. All announcements regarding trades 

in securities of the company that are required to be released 

on SENS (in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements) are 

co-ordinated through the CEO and the company sponsor.

The board has established a procedure for directors, in 

furtherance of their duties, to take independent professional 

advice, if necessary, at the company’s expense. All directors 

have access to the advice and services of the Company 

secretary.

Company secretary

The company has engaged the services of an independent, 

professional company secretarial practice. The Company 

secretary provides the board as a whole and directors 

individually with detailed guidance as to how their 

responsibilities should be properly discharged in the best 

interest of the company. The Company secretary provides 

a central source of guidance and advice to the board, and 

within the company, on matters of ethics and good corporate 

governance. The Company secretary will be subjected to an 

annual evaluation by the board.

Investments

The board meets when necessary to consider acquisitions 

and sales of investments.
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Apply

Partially 

apply

Under 

review

Ethical Leadership and Corporate Citizenship

Effective leadership based on an ethical foundation ✓

Responsible corporate citizen ✓

Effective management of company’s ethics ✓

Assurance statement on ethics in integrated report ✓

Boards and directors

The board is the focal point for and custodian of corporate governance ✓

Strategy, risk, performance and sustainability are inseparable ✓

Directors act in the best interests of the company ✓

The Chairman of the board is an independent non-executive director

Framework for the delegation of authority has been established ✓

The board comprises a balance of power, with a majority of non-executive directors 

who are independent ✓

Directors are appointed through a formal process ✓

Formal induction and on-going training of directors is conducted ✓

The board is assisted by a competent, suitably qualified and experienced Company secretary ✓

Regular performance evaluations of the board, its committees and the individual directors ✓

Appointment of well-structured committees and oversight of key functions ✓

An agreed governance framework between the group and its subsidiary boards is in place ✓

Directors and executives are fairly and responsibly remunerated ✓

Remuneration of directors and senior executives is disclosed ✓

The company’s remuneration policy is approved by its shareholders ✓

Internal Audit

Effective risk-based internal audit ✓

Written assessment of the effectiveness of the company’s system of internal controls 

and risk management ✓

Internal Audit is strategically positioned to achieve its objectives ✓

Audit and Risk Committee

Effective and independent ✓

Suitably skilled and experienced independent non-executive directors ✓

Chaired by an independent non-executive director ✓

Oversees integrated reporting ✓

A combined assurance model is applied to improve efficiency in assurance activities ✓

Communication with institutional and private shareowners 

and investment analysts is maintained through presentations 

of financial results, one-on-one meetings, trading updates 

and press announcements of interim and final results, site 

visits to operations, as well as the pro-active dissemination of 

any messages considered relevant to investors, via SENS and 

through appointed investor relations consultancy.

A report on stakeholder communication is set out on page 28 

of this Integrated Annual Report.

Communication

In all communications with stakeholders, the board aims 

to present a balanced and understandable assessment of 

Ellies’ position. This is done through adhering to principles 

of openness and substance over form and striving to address 

material matters of significant interest and concern to all 

stakeholders. The board encourages shareholder attendance 

at general meetings and where appropriate provides full and 

understandable explanations of the effects of resolutions to 

be proposed.

King III Compliance Matrix 
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Sustainability and corporate governance (continued)

Corporate governance report (continued)

Apply

Partially 

apply

Under 

review

Audit and Risk Committee (continued)

Satisfies itself of the expertise, resources and experience of the company’s finance function ✓

Oversees Internal Audit ✓

Integral to the risk management process ✓

Oversees the External Audit process ✓

Reports to the board and shareholders on how it has discharged its duties ✓

Compliance with Laws, Codes, Rules and Standards

The board ensures that the company complies with relevant laws ✓

The board and directors have a working understanding of the relevance and implications 

of non-compliance ✓

Compliance risk forms an integral part of the company’s risk management process ✓

The board has delegated to management the implementation of an effective compliance 

framework and processes ✓

Governing Stakeholder Relationships

Appreciation that stakeholders’ perceptions affect a company’s reputation ✓

Management pro-actively deals with stakeholder relationships ✓

There is an appropriate balance between its various stakeholder groupings ✓

Equitable treatment of stakeholders ✓

Transparent and effective communication to stakeholders ✓

Disputes are resolved effectively and timeously ✓

The Governance of Information Technology

The board is responsible for information technology (IT) governance ✓

IT is aligned with the performance and sustainability objectives of the company ✓

Management is responsible for the implementation of an IT governance framework ✓

The board monitors and evaluates significant IT investments and expenditure ✓

IT is an integral part of the company’s risk management ✓

IT assets are managed effectively ✓

The Audit and Risk Committee assist the board in carrying out its IT responsibilities ✓

The Governance of Risk

The board is responsible for the governance of risk and setting levels of risk tolerance ✓

The Risk Management Committee assists the board in carrying out its risk responsibilities ✓

The board delegates the process of risk management to management ✓

The board ensures that risk assessments and monitoring is performed on a continual basis ✓

Frameworks and methodologies are implemented to increase the probability of anticipating 

unpredictable risks ✓

Management implements appropriate risk responses ✓

The board receives assurance on the effectiveness of the risk management process ✓

Sufficient risk disclosure to stakeholders ✓

Integrated Reporting and Disclosure

Ensures the integrity of the company’s integrated report ✓

Sustainability reporting and disclosure is integrated with the company’s financial reporting ✓

Sustainability reporting and disclosure is independently assured ✓

King III Compliance Matrix (continued)

ELLIES INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2012 •••• 36



Risk management and internal controls

Risk

Pro-

bability Impact Result Mitigation

 ECONOMIC

Increase in interest 

rates

Low Medium Increased interest payments on 

borrowings and bank overdraft

The group currently has a 

debt : equity level of around 28%

This ratio should never exceed 30%

Increase in the Rand/

US$ exchange rate

Medium Low Imported goods sold by Ellies will 

become more expensive

In most cases the increase will be 

passed onto the consumer

The impact will only be affected by 

the timing due to us renegotiating 

our prices with major customers

Megatron contracts are in US$ The CFC account was utilised by 

retaining sufficient US$ to cover 

the forex risk

Global economic 

conditions – 

Infrastructural 

development segment

Medium Medium The slowdown in general economic 

activity and growth, will result in 

lower projects being undertaken 

thus resulting in lower sales

This division only represents 

one-third of the business of Ellies

Megatron is currently trying to further 

diversify its operations

Information 
technology

Economic

Operational

Labour 
actions
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Risk

Pro-

bability Impact Result Mitigation

 OPERATIONAL

Consumer Protection 

Act

Medium Low – 

Medium

Any goods sold by Ellies directly 

or through its Retails/Furniture/

Independent customers to an end 

user of the product, will be subject 

to the provisions of this Act. The 

penalties for contravening such 

Act are significant

Around one-third of the products 

supplied will be able to be referred 

back to the suppliers of these goods.

Our “QC” is constantly improving.

We are actively looking at our 

products to ensure that all the 

requirements of this Act are met.

We maintain an adequate warranty in 

our accounts to cover any costs which 

may arise

Insurance 

–  Fire and Loss of 

Profits

Low High A fire to a warehouse where any 

stock is being housed would not 

only result in the loss of our biggest 

assets, but would also result in our 

customers seeking similar products 

from our competitors

We have adopted a decentralised 

system with multiple branches across 

the country.

Johannesburg is the biggest risk:

•  currently have a sprinkler system 

to prevent a major catastrophe

• the stock is split into various 

different locations

– Theft and Fraud Low Medium Any theft or fraud would result in a 

loss to the organisation

Adequate insurance has been taken 

out, where appropriate 

We have adequate segregation of 

duties and reasonable internal 

controls

Customer/Supplier 

Relationships

Low Medium If Ellies had to lose some of its 

larger customers, it would result in 

lower sales

Diversification in both its customer 

base and supplier products

Offering services and products to be 

considered value-added strategic 

suppliers

Competitors Low Low – 

Medium

A new competitor or the growth 

of an existing competitor would 

result in lower sales for a particular 

product range

Ellies has a diversified range of 

product which would be very hard for 

a competitor to match.

Ellies has a national footprint with an 

established logistics system.

There are high barriers to entry for 

new competitors as well as existing 

competitors that wish to grow their 

business

Ellies has a solid brand backed by a 

good reputation

Sustainability and corporate governance (continued)

Risk management and internal controls (continued)
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Risk

Pro-

bability Impact Result Mitigation

 OPERATIONAL

 (continued)

Key individuals Low Low 

(Ellies)

Senior management have been 

around for a long time and have an 

extensive knowledge of the business

There are multiple key individuals 

across the country and if one should 

leave there are sufficient skills within 

the organisation to ensure that there 

is continuity within the organisation.

Medium 

(Mega-

tron)

A loss of any one of the senior 

management could impact on the 

group’s operations

There is sufficient second level 

management at Megatron to ensure 

continuity

 LABOUR ACTION

Staff unrest Medium Low Should there be staff unrest there is 

a risk that production can come to 

a halt, resulting in certain products 

becoming out of stock, resulting in 

lower sales

Ellies has diversified representatives 

with different unions

Manufacturing is a small component 

of Ellies business and should any 

unrest occur, Ellies would not be 

materially impacted

Ellies keeps an adequate stock-

holding of its major lines and any 

unrest in the manufacturing plant 

would not affect business

 INFORMATION 

 TECHNOLOGY

IT environment Low Medium Should there be a malfunction of 

IT equipment or an IT disaster, 

the operations of Ellies would 

be affected which could result in 

the inability to invoice customers, 

resulting in lower sales

Ellies runs a decentralised 

IT/accounting system among all 

its branches

The biggest branch being 

Johannesburg (including Pretoria), 

operate an independent POS system 

that can still invoice customers and 

keep updated stock records. This 

system is updated every evening with 

the main database
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surrounding communities. When senior management 

positions open, Ellies promotes from within the organisation, 

giving employees who have dedicated years to the group, 

a chance to better their position. All hiring is conducted in 

accordance with recognised labour practices.

Environmental indicators

Lights in all of Ellies offices as well as warehouses have been 

changed to energy-efficient lights. Ellies however, does not 

measure the direct or indirect energy consumption of its 

facilities, but is in the process of putting in place a system 

in order to measure energy consumption. Due to Ellies not 

measuring their energy consumption, no comparison can 

be made to measure the savings made due to conservation 

and efficiency improvements. Once Ellies has an energy-

savings policy in place year-on-year comparison’s could be 

made. This would most likely only be reportable in the 2014 

Integrated Report.

On page 20 of this report a case study of the Eskom, Project 

Power Save contract is outlined. The case study outlines 

the amount of energy saved by Ellies through this initiative 

by installing energy efficient lighting, shower-heads, geyser 

timers and pool pump timers. Ellies have also implemented 

an “Energy Efficient Office”.

Ellies is supplied water by Johannesburg Water and not a 

vast amount of water is used in day-to-day operations within 

the Ellies group, therefore Ellies does not measure water 

consumption and will not do so in future. Ellies currently has 

no initiatives in place to recycle and reuse water in its day-to-

day operations.

All land occupied by Ellies can be found in the main areas 

of various metropolitan cities and therefore the operations 

have no negative impact on any protected areas. As the 

day-to-day operations of the group have no significant impact 

on the environment in which Ellies operates, no habitats need 

to be protected or restored.

Ellies has no immediate plans to implement strategies to 

manage the group’s impacts on bio-diversity. No IUCN Red 

List Species’ habitats are affected by any of Ellies operations.

Although Ellies does not measure its direct or indirect 

greenhouse gas emissions, the group is in the process of 

putting policies in place to not only measure greenhouse gas 

emissions but also electricity usage. The group also has no 

initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions.

Ellies strives to make a difference to the communities 

within which the group operates.

This is the first sustainability report prepared by Ellies and 

will focus on performance indicators, as provided by the GRI 

index, namely economic, environmental, labour practices and 

a decent work environment, human rights, society and product 

responsibility. Ellies is in the process of initiating policies and 

procedures for gathering sustainability information, which 

will assist in the assessment of performance. This, together 

with additional management of material risks, will enhance 

sustainability reporting in the future.

Economic indicators

On page 24 of the Integrated Annual Report Ellies has plotted 

its economic value generated and distribution to employees, 

Government, providers of capital and the amount retained for 

growth. 

Climate change had no direct effect on the group’s activities 

and therefore no financial compensation is made for this.

Ellies receives no financial assistance from Government or 

quasi-Government organisations. Cash flow requirements to 

run operations and pay for capital expenditure is generated 

and used from cash generated by operations as well as 

manageable overdraft facilities arranged with our bankers, 

Standard Bank.

Ellies has a well-diversified mix of products sourced and 

manufactured locally as well as from international suppliers. 

The company also manufactures and packages a large 

amount of its own products.

Product procurement 

Locally 
Manufactured/
Sourced

60%

40%Internationally

The group is proud of the way in which it conducts its 

hiring procedures as most employees are hired from the 

Sustainability report

Sustainability and corporate governance (continued)
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Society

A full CSI report can be found on pages 42 to 44 of this 

report, detailing the group’s commitment to enhancing and 

empowering the communities in which it operates.

All Ellies employees are aware of the group’s zero tolerance 

to corruption within and outside of the organisation and 

are encouraged to report such matters to management, 

in any form of communication with which employees are 

comfortable, be it in a formal meeting, via email or via 

the Ellies hotline.

Once an incident of corruption has been reported the group 

will investigate the legitimacy of the allegations and take steps 

in correcting the behaviour, which could lead to termination 

of employment.

In the period under review no donations have been made 

to any political parties, politicians or institutions related to 

the South African Government.

No incidents of anti-competitive behaviour were reported in 

the period under review. As were no fines issued for any non-

compliance to laws or regulations.

Product responsibility

Ellies has a wide variety of products sold throughout 

the country and is vigilant as to the safety of these products 

to its customers. 

All Ellies products are first tested and approved by 

Ellies’ Research and Development department. Once this 

department’s quality control is approved relevant regulatory 

approvals are obtained. Each shipment is batched, labelled 

and quality control tested for quality assurance before being 

released to the warehouse. 

Ellies as a group are extremely conscientious of the impact 

their operations have on the surrounding environment and 

will in future have in place ways in which to measure the 

effect of these operations on the environment, by comparing 

measurements year-on-year.

Human Rights

The fundamentals and values of Ellies as a group dictate 

fairness and integrity in the treatment of all staff and the 

adherence to human rights. 

Over the period under review no incidents of discrimination 

or human rights abuses have been reported or investigated 

by the group.

The group and its operations acknowledge that employees 

and staff have the right to exercise freedom of association and 

collective bargaining. Unauthorised strike action is deemed 

a risk to Ellies manufacturing operations and therefore the 

group endeavours to negotiate effectively and responsibly 

with the respective trade unions. 

Ellies opposes the use of child labour and is not aware of any 

such practice across the group’s divisions or suppliers. 

During the period under review no human rights violations 

were reported, Ellies does however have a hotline in place 

where any Ellies employee can report corruption or human 

rights violations. Tips received via the hotline are considered 

extremely serious by management and are investigated and 

dealt with in a speedy and effective manner.

Each shipment is batched, labelled and quality control tested 

for quality assurance before being released to the warehouse.
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Ellies Engage is the group’s commitment to incorporating 

a social investment programme into the everyday psyche of 

Ellies. Over the coming years we will share our progress as 

we give back to the communities and public that supports 

us, by actively getting involved in uplifting and helping in 

initiatives and projects that make South Africa a better place. 

Our focus is on four predominant areas: learnerships, charity, 

enterprise development and staff engagement.

Ellies Installer School

The Ellies Installer School was started on the back of the 

need for properly trained installers as well as a way to create 

jobs for individuals in the immediate Ellies community.

The Installer School’s training programme is presented in 

Johannesburg, Durban and Cape Town and takes place once 

a month, for a week. Once the week’s training has been 

completed, installers are required to write an exam, when 

successfully passed, a graduation ceremony takes place. 

The successful completion of the training enables these 

installers to participate in the Elsat Satellite Installation 

Voucher system, which is a sustainable revenue stream for 

these individuals and a platform from which they can start 

their own small business.

248 installers graduated from the Ellies Installer School 

during this reporting period, compared to the 216 installers 

which graduated in the previous reporting period.

Township TV

As previously reported, Ellies remains a proud partner of 

the Township TV initiative, the objective of which is to provide 

the township’s of South Africa with entertainment in a safe 

and secure environment at no cost to the community.

Ellies has installed satellite dishes and decoders for 

all 22 permanent sites country wide, and provides all 

maintenance required for these sites at no cost. This is an 

on-going initiative and Ellies will continue to provide these 

services for all current sites as well as any possible new sites.

Sustainability and corporate governance (continued)

Corporate Social Investment

Wayne Samson, Ellies CEO, with a group of Ellies Installer School graduates. 
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Things on Wheels

Things on Wheels is an initiative which provides a loaf of 

bread and a hot meal to 2 000 under privileged people living 

in townships across the Western Cape area. Townships which 

have been visited over the past months include Heinz Park, 

Wallacedene Park and Khayelitsha. Things on Wheels takes 

place bi-monthly.

The idea and passion which was to become Things on Wheels 

started 10 years ago with Kamile Abbas, an Ellies employee 

assisting with maintenance and odd jobs at the Eros Centre 

for Cerebral Palsy patients, after his nephew was diagnosed 

with the illness. When his nephew was transferred to Rosedon 

House, Kamile “lost his heart to the home” and would handle 

and sort out any issues the home had, on a maintenance level, 

and was supported on a financial level by the Ellies Cape 

Town branch. As part of Things on Wheels, Kamile and his 

team also oversee and orphanage called Habibia Children’s 

Home, where they assist with the maintenance of the building 

and also fundraising to raise money for their shortfalls. Once 

a year Things on Wheels host a corporate fund raiser to raise 

money for cochlear implants. To date five cochlear implants 

have been performed with the help of this initiative.

Ellies Blanket Drive

As the winter set in around the country Ellies launched a 

new corporate social investment initiative – the Ellies blanket 

drive. Ellies branches across the country visited under 

privileged communities and homeless individuals and handed 

out a total of 23 500 blankets. Ellies hope to make this an 

annual initiative.
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Empowering the disabled

As part of the Project Power Save initiative, Ellies branches, 

across the country, outsourced the assembling of energy 

efficient shower-heads to the Association for the Disabled. 

It is enlightening to see smiles of achievement, hard work 

and reward from all those on the assembly line. In total 35 

disabled people participated in this initiative with over 250 000 

shower-heads assembled.

Sustainability and corporate governance (continued)

Corporate Social Investment (continued)
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STORE WITHIN A STORE

The Ellies Renewable Energy (ERE) 

division successfully launched their 

‘Green Store-within-a-store’ into 

27 Builders Warehouse stores and 

24 Builders Express stores across 

South Africa this year. The “store 

within a store concept”, which began 

roll out from September 2011, has 

allowed South Africans easy access 

to expert advice as well as a variety 

of energy-efficient products in one 

environment. The Green Stores are 

aimed at educating the consumer as 

well as finding tailor-made energy 

solutions.

The success of the new stores 

have stood testament to the quality 

and variety of the ‘green’ product 

range, clearly setting ERE ahead of 

its competition. The Green Stores 

have set new retail trends within the 

South African consumer base, and 

are customised to suit South Africa’s 

unique energy needs.

“The Green store concept supports 

one of our corporate accountability 

priorities, i.e. ensuring sustainable 

supply and consumerism. We want 

to empower consumers to make 

responsible choices more frequently 

and thus we are tirelessly working 

to increase the number of green 

products within our product ranges 

to make this a reality” adds Zandile 

Manana, Marketing Executive of 

MassBuild.

Products available include energy 

and water-efficient shower heads 

and flow regulators, LED light bulbs, 

energy-efficient fluorescent tubes 

and solar power products. ERE also 

offers an energy audit, allowing home 

and business owners an in-depth 

assessment of energy usage and 

allowing customised energy-saving 

solutions. New innovations include 

easy and simple photovoltaic/solar 

panel kits which are installed using 

a voucher system thus avoiding 

any hassles or frustration to the 

consumer. Energy meters have also 

been introduced, an effective DIY 

product range which helps people 

track energy usage in their homes.

The Green stores can be visited in 

22 Builders Warehouse and Builders 

Express stores in the Gauteng 

region, eight in Cape Town, five in 

KZN, three in the Eastern Cape, 

one in Bloemfontein and one in 

East London. The remainder of the 

Builders Warehouse and Express 

stores will be opened prior to the 

end of November 2012 and the 

concept will be part of the aggressive 

MassBuild expansion plan into Africa.

Case study: five

RENEWABLE ENERGY
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Analysis of shareholders

Number of 

holders

Percentage

 of total

Number of 

shares

Percentage

 of total

Listed below is an analysis of shareholdings extracted from 

the register of ordinary shareholders at 30 April 2012:

Shareholder spread

1 – 1 000 shares  309 14,37 172 718 0,06

1 001 – 10 000 shares  1 008 46,89 5 080 664 1,67

10 001 – 100 000 shares  679 31,58 22 231 136 7,32

100 001 – 1 000 000 shares  117 5,44 41 033 573 13,52

Over 1 000 001 shares  37 1,72 234 987 600 77,42

 2 150 100,00 303 505 691 100,00

Distribution of shareholders

Assurance companies 3 0,14 2 243 628 0,74

Close corporations 40 1,86 1 055 050 0,35

Collective investment schemes 15 0,70 12 413 304 4,09

Custodians 5 0,23 12 733 574 4,20

Foundations and charitable funds 11 0,51 939 818 0,31

Hedge funds 5 0,23 2 670 500 0,88

Investment partnerships 35 1,63 1 143 385 0,38

Managed funds 11 0,51 298 083 0,10

Private companies 49 2,28 19 209 174 6,33

Public companies 3 0,14 1 220 000 0,40

Retail shareholders 1 802 83,82 208 512 254 68,70

Retirement benefit funds 6 0,28 4 587 156 1,51

Stockbrokers and nominees 8 0,37 5 531 431 1,82

Trusts 157 7,30 30 948 334 10,20

 2 150 100,00 303 505 691 100,00

Shareholder type

Non-public shareholders  23 1,07 143 439 196 47,26

Directors and associates (direct holding)  16 0,74 112 461 385 37,05

Directors and associates (indirect holding)  7 0,33 30 977 811 10,21

Public shareholders  2 127 98,93 160 066 495 52,74

 2 150 100,00 303 505 691 100,00

Number of shares Percentage held

2012 2011 2012 2011

According to the register of members of the company, the only 

shareholders registered as holding 5% or more of the company’s 

shares were the following:

ER Salkow 74 691 846  83 083 658 24,61 27,37

RE Otto  27 500 000  28 361 499 9,06 9,34

DE Otto  26 061 499  27 911 499 8,59 9,20

 128 253 345  139 356 656 42,26 45,91

Shareholder information
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Interaction with shareholders
The group maintains continuous dialogue with its key financial 

audiences, especially institutional and private shareholders 

and analysts. The Investor Relations team, together with the 

CEO and CFO, manage the dialogue with these respective 

audiences. The group adopts a pro-active stance in timely 

dissemination of appropriate information to stakeholders 

and shareholders through print and electronic news releases 

and the statutory publication of the group’s financial 

performance.

The group’s website provides the latest and historical financial 

and other information, including the financial reports.

The board encourages shareholders to attend the Annual 

General Meeting, notice of which is given in this Integrated 

Annual Report, where shareholders will have the opportunity 

to put questions to the board.

An Investor Relations consultancy has been appointed 

to further disseminate information to the market and 

shareholders are also encouraged to contact the consultancy 

should they require additional information.

Financial year-end 30 April

Annual report posted  October 2012

Annual General Meeting 28 November 2012

Announcement of interim results January 2013

Announcement of annual results July 2013

Shareholders’ diary
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Share trading statistics

2012 2011

Total volume of shares traded for the year 52 864 220 76 537 880

Value of shares traded (Rand) R136,6 million R127,5 million

Market capitalisation as at 30 April R1,2 billion R585.8 million

Total value traded as a percentage of year-end market capitalisation 11.4% 21.5%

Opening share price on 3 May 2011 195 cents

Closing share price on 30 April 2012 395 cents

Percentage gain for the year 102.5%

Closing high for the period (26 April 2012 and 30 April 2012) 395 cents

Closing low for the period (6 October 2011 and 7 October 2011) 180 cents

Number of shares in issue 303 505 691

Shareholder information (continued)

Market performance

3 May 2011 27 April 2012

Ellies Holdings Electronic and Electrical Equipment All Share

Ellies outperforms the All Share Index by 85.4%.

Market performance

Ellies share price versus the All Share Index and the Electronic and Electrical Equipment Index.
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Statement of responsibility by the board of directors
for the year ended 30 April 2012

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for the adequacy of accounting records, the effectiveness of risk management 

and the internal control environment, the appropriateness of accounting policies supported by reasonable and prudent judgements 

and estimates. The directors further acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the annual financial statements, 

adherence to applicable accounting standards and presentation of related information that fairly presents the state of affairs and 

the results of the company and of the group.

The annual financial statements set out in this report, incorporate the results for the year ended 30 April 2012. They have been 

prepared by the directors in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in the manner required by the 

Companies Act of South Africa. They incorporate full and adequate disclosure and are based on appropriate accounting policies 

which have been applied and which are supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.

In the context of the audit carried out for the purposes of expressing an opinion on the fair presentation of the annual financial 

statements, the auditors have concurred with the disclosures of the directors on going concern. 

The external auditors are not responsible for providing an independent assessment of internal financial controls but are responsible 

for reporting on whether the annual financial statements are fairly presented in conformity with IFRS. The external audit offers 

reasonable, but not absolute, assurance on the accuracy of financial disclosures.

Board approval

The annual financial statements were approved by the board of directors and are signed on its behalf by:

ER Salkow MF Levitt

Chairman Chief Financial Officer

23 July 2012
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Declaration by Company secretary
for the year ended 30 April 2012

In our capacity as Company secretary we declare, in terms of the Companies Act of South Africa, that for the year ended 

30 April 2012 the company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required of a public company in 

terms of this Act and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

Probity Business Services Proprietary Limited

Company secretary

23 July 2012
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Independent auditors’ report
for the year ended 30 April 2012

To the shareholders of Ellies Holdings Limited

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Ellies Holdings Limited set out on pages 58 to 92, which 

comprise the statements of financial position as at 30 April 2012, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of 

changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the financial year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial statements 

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and the requirements of the Companies Act of South 

Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and separate 

financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with 

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated and separate 

financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 

the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 

relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 

control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and 

separate financial position of Ellies Holdings Limited as at 30 April 2012, and its consolidated and separate financial performance 

and consolidated and separate cash flows for the financial year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards, and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Other reports required by the Companies Act

As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements for the financial year ended 30 April 2012, we have read 

the Directors’ report, Audit Committee report and the Declaration by the Company secretary, for the purpose of identifying whether 

there are material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial statements. These 

reports are the responsibility of the preparers. Based on reading these reports we have not identified material inconsistencies 

between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial statements. However, we have not audited these reports 

and accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

PKF (Jhb) Inc 

Registered Auditors

Chartered Accountants (SA) 

Director: RM Huiskamp

Sandton

23 July 2012
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Directors’ report
for the year ended 30 April 2012

The directors present their annual report, which forms part of the consolidated and separate annual financial statements 

of Ellies Holdings Limited for the year ended 30 April 2012.

Nature of business

The group is involved in:

• The manufacture, import and distribution of premium quality TV and video equipment-related products under the “Ellies” brand;

• The manufacture, import and distribution of premium quality satellite and associated equipment under the “Elsat” brand;

• “Ellies Corporate” and “Elsat Rentals” divisions deal with industrial audio, satellite and TV distribution systems, respectively;

• “Ellies Renewable Energy” division focuses on thermal, electric and other solutions through alternative energy products, 

to conserve energy expenditure for your household and to protect the environment;

• “Megatron Federal” division manufactures products for power generation for distribution and transmission and is dominant in 

the area of domestic electrical and surge protection; and

• In-Toto Solutions is a broad-based company formed to leverage the collective strengths of its shareholders to establish a 

presence and project management competence in the clean energy space.

Group results

Details of the consolidated and separate financial results, financial position and cash flows are set out in the audited annual 

financial statements.

Going concern

The directors believe that the group has or has access to adequate resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future 

and, accordingly, the annual financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis.

Share capital

There were no changes to the authorised and issued share capital during the year.

The company’s unissued shares have been placed under the control of the directors until the upcoming Annual General Meeting.

Borrowing powers

The company has unlimited borrowing powers in terms of its Memorandum of Incorporation.

Subsidiaries and associates

Details of the company’s interest in subsidiaries and associates as at 30 April 2012 and at the date of this report are set out in 

notes 4 and 5, respectively, to the annual financial statements.

During the year, the Megatron Federal division of Ellies Proprietary Limited acquired the business of Andrews Wireless Solutions 

Africa Proprietary Limited on 1 November 2011, as detailed in note 27 to the annual financial statements.

Directors

Directors in office during the period under review and at the date of this report are:

Executive 

ER Salkow (Chairman)

WMG Samson (Chief Executive Officer)

MF Levitt (Chief Financial Officer)

RH Berkman

RE Otto

Non-executive

AC Brooking 

Lead independent non-executive

OD Fortuin (appointed 11 April 2011)
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Directors’ report (continued)
for the year ended 30 April 2012

Independent non-executive

MR Goodford

M Moodley (appointed 25 April 2012)

FS Mkhize (appointed 1 June 2012)

MS Mazwi (resigned 11 November 2011)

In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation, the following directors will retire as directors at the upcoming Annual General 

Meeting, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election:

• M Moodley 

• FS Mkhize 

• MR Goodford

• RE Otto

• AC Brooking

Directors’ emoluments

Details of emoluments paid to directors are as follows:

For the year ended 30 April 2012

Fees for 

services as 

director

Basic 

salary and 

allowances Bonus

Medical aid 

and pension 

benefits Total

Director R R R R R

Executive

ER Salkow  –  1 790 472  1 434 364  33 582  3 258 418 

WMG Samson  –  2 086 980  1 361 143  277 755  3 725 878 

MF Levitt  –  1 916 592  1 430 074  193 530  3 540 196 

RH Berkman  –  1 603 448  383 621  164 209  2 151 278 

RE Otto  –  2 033 239  500 000  170 762  2 704 001 

Non-executive

AC Brooking*  204 653  –  –  –  204 653 

OD Fortuin  325 000  –  –  –  325 000 

MR Goodford#  387 504  –  –  –  387 504 

 917 157  9 430 731  5 109 202  839 838  16 296 928

* Fees paid to Java Capital Proprietary Limited

# These fees include the purchase of 250 000 Ellies shares during 2010, and cover a period of service for three years

For the year ended 30 April 2011

Fees for 

services as 

director

Basic 

salary and 

allowances Bonus

Medical aid 

and pension 

benefits Total

Director R R R R R

Executive

ER Salkow  –  1 591 692  489 073  31 018  2 111 783 

WMG Samson  –  1 988 412  1 085 564  129 191  3 203 167 

MF Levitt  –  1 774 620  1 022 748  151 566  2 948 934 

RH Berkman  –  1 485 888  575 040  83 928  2 144 856 

RE Otto  –  1 810 250  –  155 325  1 965 575 

Non-executive

MR Goodford  283 334  –  –  –  283 334 

 283 334  8 650 862  3 172 425  551 028  12 657 649
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Directors’ shareholding

At 30 April 2012, directors held 143 439 196 (2011: 138 514 350) shares or 47.26% (2011: 45.64%) of the issued ordinary share capital 

of the company. Save for the shareholdings detailed below, no other director in office during the period under review held any 

interest in the issued ordinary share capital of the company.

At 30 April 2012

Director

Direct 

beneficial

Direct non-

beneficial

Indirect 

beneficial

Indirect non-

beneficial Total

Executive

ER Salkow  73 083 658  5 000 000  15 000 000  –  93 083 658 

WMG Samson  3 844 100  –  –  –  3 844 100 

MF Levitt  3 587 100  –  –  –  3 587 100 

RH Berkman  3 901 840  –  7 698 360  –  11 600 200 

RE Otto  25 361 499  5 306 754  –  –  30 668 253 

Non-executive

AC Brooking  125 000  –  280 885  –  405 885 

MR Goodford  250 000  –  –  –  250 000 

 110 153 197  10 306 754  22 979 245  –  143 439 196

During May 2012, AC Brooking’s “Indirect beneficial” holding increased by 10 663 Ellies shares to 291 548 through a distribution by 

an investment trust.

There were no other changes in the directors’ shareholding from the year-end to the date of this report. 

No share options have been awarded at the date of this report.

At 30 April 2011

Director

Direct 

beneficial

Direct non-

beneficial

Indirect 

beneficial

Indirect non-

beneficial Total

Executive

ER Salkow  83 083 658  –  –  –  83 083 658 

WMG Samson  4 094 100  –  –  –  4 094 100 

MF Levitt  3 587 100  –  –  –  3 587 100 

RH Berkman  3 308 748  –  7 698 360  –  11 007 108 

RE Otto  26 359 923  –  2 001 576  –  28 361 499 

Non-executive

AC Brooking  125 000  –  280 885  –  405 885 

MR Goodford  250 000  –  –  –  250 000 

MS Mazwi  225 000  –  7 500 000  –  7 725 000 

 121 033 529  –  17 480 821  –  138 514 350
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Directors’ report (continued)
for the year ended 30 April 2012

Salient terms of the service and restraint agreements of executive directors

The directors’ service agreements contain terms and conditions that are standard for these types of agreements and are terminable 

on three months’ notice by either party. The directors are remunerated during their notice period and the contracts contain restraint 

of trade provisions in terms of which the directors are restrained from competing with the group during their employment and for a 

period of two years after termination of their employment with the group. There were no changes from the prior year.

Company secretary

The secretary of the company is Probity Business Services Proprietary Limited.

Auditors

PKF (Jhb) Inc. will continue in accordance with the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended, subject to the approval of the 

shareholders at the upcoming Annual General Meeting.

Preparation of the annual financial statements

The annual financial statements have been prepared by Irwin Lipworth, (CA) SA.

Audit Committee report

The committee has fulfilled its responsibilities for the year under review. Full details of the responsibilities and duties of the Audit 

Committee are included in the “Corporate governance” section.

The scope, independence and objectivity of the external auditors was reviewed. The audit firm PKF (Jhb) Inc., and audit partner 

RM Huiskamp, are, in the committee’s opinion, independent of the company. The nature and extent of non-audit services provided 

by the external auditors has been reviewed to ensure that the fees for such services do not become so significant as to call into 

question their independence. 

The Audit Committee is satisfied that there was no material breakdown in the internal accounting controls during the financial year. 

This was based on the information and explanations given by management as well as discussion with the independent external 

auditors on the results of their audits.

The nature and extent of future non-audit services have been defined and pre-approved.

As at the date of this report, no complaints have been received relating to accounting practices of the company or to the content or 

auditing of the company’s financial statements, or to any related matter.

The committee also satisfied itself that Mr MF Levitt has the competence, experience and qualifications required of a financial 

director of a public listed company. Mr Levitt is a member of The South African Institute of Chartered Accountants.
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Special resolutions

The following special resolutions were passed at the Annual General Meeting on 23 November 2011:

• General authority for directors to effect share repurchases;

• Approval of fees payable to non-executive directors (2011/2012); and

• Approval for the provision of financial assistance to group inter-related companies.

No other special resolutions were passed during the year under review.

Dividends

The payment of dividends is reviewed periodically, taking into account prevailing circumstances and future cash requirements.

A cash dividend of 10 cents per share has been declared for the 2012 financial year.
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Statements of financial position
as at 30 April 2012

Group  Company 

 2012  2011  2012  2011 

Notes  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000 

Assets
Non-current assets  333 245  309 553  337 637  337 637 

Property, plant and equipment 1  100 376  76 584  –  – 

Goodwill 2  217 554  217 554  –  – 

Intangible assets 3  7 473  6 434  –  – 

Investments in subsidiaries 4 – –  337 637  337 637 

Investment in associate 5  –  1 039  –  – 

Deferred taxation 6  7 842  7 942  –  – 

Current assets  1 012 356  655 240  182 439  182 399 

Inventories 7  506 377  358 895  –  – 

Trade and other receivables 8  456 268  224 319  –  – 

Taxation receivable  339  418  –  – 

Loan to subsidiary 9 – –  182 251  182 210 

Bank and cash balances 10  49 372  71 608  188  189 

Total assets  1 345 601  964 793  520 076  520 036 

Equity and liabilities
Total shareholders’ interests  760 450  596 079  519 841  519 792 

Share capital 11  3  3  3  3 

Share premium 12  501 491  501 491  501 491  501 491 

Non-distributable reserves 13  (178 907)  (178 875)  –  – 

Retained earnings  440 315  274 824  18 347  18 298 

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  762 902  597 443  519 841  519 792 

Non-controlling interests  (2 452)  (1 364)  –  – 

Non-current liabilities  164 714  44 059  –  – 

Interest-bearing liabilities 14  163 150  43 913  –  – 

Vendor loans payable 15  1 171  –  –  – 

Deferred taxation 6  393  146  –  – 

Current liabilities  420 437  324 655  235  244 

Interest-bearing liabilities 14  11 190  29 672  –  – 

Vendor loans payable 15  752  –  –  – 

Trade and other payables 16  294 012  245 182  47  48 

Provisions 17  12 710  2 258  –  – 

Taxation payable  10 001  1 099  –  8 

Shareholders for dividends  188  188  188  188 

Bank overdrafts 10  91 584  46 256  –  – 

Total equity and liabilities  1 345 601  964 793  520 076  520 036 
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Statements of comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 April 2012

Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011

Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Revenue  1 711 252  1 316 055  –  – 

Cost of sales  (1 009 156)  (819 059)  –  – 

Gross profit  702 096  496 996  –  – 

Other income  4 675  2 816  840  43 178 

Operating expenses  (433 400)  (340 027)  (773)  (426) 

Depreciation  (15 074)  (12 228)  –  – 

Amortisation of intangible assets  (557)  (1 502)  –  – 

Profit from operations 18  257 740  146 055  67  42 752 

Interest received 19  139  548  –  – 

Interest paid 20  (23 510)  (12 819)  –  (481) 

Share of losses from associate 5  (4 401)  (531)  –  – 

Profit before taxation  229 968  133 253  67  42 271 

Taxation 21  (65 565)  (39 044)  (18)  (1 535) 

Profit for the year  164 403  94 209  49  40 736 

Other comprehensive income:

Foreign currency translation reserve  (32)  (208)  –  – 

Total comprehensive income for the year  164 371  94 001  49  40 736 

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent  165 491  95 573  49  40 736 

Non-controlling interests  (1 088)  (1 364)  –  – 

Net profit after tax  164 403  94 209  49  40 736 

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent  165 459  95 365  49  40 736 

Non-controlling interests  (1 088)  (1 364)  –  – 

Total comprehensive income for the year  164 371  94 001  49  40 736

Group 

Note 2012 2011

Basic earnings per share (cents) 22  54,53  31,49 

Headline earnings per share (cents) 22  54,45  31,42 

Net asset value per share (cents)  251,36  196,40 

Tangible net asset value per share (cents)  177,04  122,81 

Share statistics
for the year ended 30 April 2012
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Statements of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 April 2012

Share 

capital 

Share 

premium

Non-distri-

butable 

reserves

Retained 

earnings/ 

(losses)

Equity 

attri-

butable 

to equity 

holders of 

the parent

Non-

controlling 

interests

Total 

equity

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

GROUP

Balances as at 30 April 2010  3  501 491  (178 667)  194 427  517 254  –  517 254 

Total comprehensive income 

for the year  –  –  (208)  95 573  95 365  (1 364)  94 001 

Dividends paid  –  –  –  (15 176)  (15 176)  –  (15 176) 

Balances as at 30 April 2011  3  501 491  (178 875)  274 824  597 443  (1 364)  596 079 

Total comprehensive income 

for the year  –  –  (32)  165 491  165 459  (1 088)  164 371 

Balances as at 30 April 2012  3  501 491  (178 907)  440 315  762 902  (2 452)  760 450 

COMPANY

Balances as at 30 April 2010  3  501 491  –  (7 262)  494 232 

Total comprehensive income 

for the year  –  –  –  40 736  40 736 

Dividends paid  –  –  –  (15 176)  (15 176) 

Balances as at 30 April 2011  3  501 491  –  18 298  519 792 

Total comprehensive income 

for the year  –  –  –  49  49 

Balances as at 30 April 2012  3  501 491  –  18 347  519 841 
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Statements of cash flows
for the year ended 30 April 2012

Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011

Notes R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Cash flows from operating activities  (123 145)  93 290  40  (16 620) 

Cash (utilised by)/generated from operations 23  (43 729)  166 000  66  (99) 

Interest received 19  139  548  –  – 

Interest paid 24  (23 416)  (12 338)  –  – 

Taxation paid 25  (56 139)  (45 932)  (26)  (1 533) 

Dividends paid 26  –  (14 988)  –  (14 988) 

Cash flows from investing activities  (45 174)  (57 177)  (41)  30 207 

Additions to property, plant and equipment  (38 899)  (56 503)  –  – 

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment  457  896  –  – 

Additions to intangible assets  (1 596)  –  –  – 

(Decrease)/increase in loans to subsidiary – –  (41)  30 207 

Acquisition of business 27  (1 774)  –  –  – 

Loan to associate  (3 362)  (1 570)  –  – 

Cash flows from financing activities  100 755  2 492  –  (14 088) 

Increase in interest-bearing liabilities  100 755  16 580  –  – 

Repayment of vendor loans  –  (14 088)  –  (14 088) 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (67 564)  38 605  (1)  (501) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  25 352  (13 253)  189  690 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  (42 212)  25 352  188  189 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Bank and cash balances  49 372  71 608  188  189 

Bank overdrafts  (91 584)  (46 256)  –  – 

 (42 212)  25 352  188  189
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The principal accounting policies as set out below have been applied, unless otherwise stated:

1. Basis of preparation

These annual financial statements have been prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRS”), the AC 500 series of interpretations, the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa and the Listings 

Requirements of the JSE Limited, on the historic cost basis, except in the case of financial instruments which are measured 

using the fair value and amortised cost models. The annual financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis. 

The preparation of annual financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts in the annual financial statements. The areas 

involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions or estimates are significant to the annual 

financial statements are disclosed under the management estimates heading.

 1.1 Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

At the date of approving these annual financial statements, the following standards and interpretations were in issue 

but not yet effective (effective from the annual periods beginning on or after the date shown in brackets):

IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures 

• Amendments require additional disclosure on transfer transactions of financial assets, including the possible effects 

of any residual risks that the transferring entity retains. The amendments also require additional disclosures if a 

disproportionate amount of transfer transactions are undertaken around the end of a reporting period (1 July 2011).

• Amendments require entities to disclose gross amounts subject to rights of set-off, amounts set-off in accordance 

with the accounting standards followed, and the related net credit exposure. This information will help investors 

understand the extent to which an entity has set-off in its balance sheet and the effects of rights of set-off on 

the entity’s rights and obligations (1 January 2013).

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments

• New standard that forms the first part of a three-part project to replace IAS 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement (1 January 2015).

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

• New standard that replaces the consolidation requirements in SIC-12: Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, 

and IAS 27: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. Standard builds on existing principles by identifying 

the concept of control as the determining factor in whether an entity should be included within the consolidated 

financial statements of the parent company and provides additional guidance to assist in the determination 

of control where this is difficult to assess (1 January 2013).

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

• New standard that deals with the accounting for joint arrangements and focuses on the rights and obligations of the 

arrangement, rather than its legal form. Standard requires a single method for accounting for interests in jointly-

controlled entities (1 January 2013).

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

• New and comprehensive standard on disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other entities, including 

joint arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and other off-balance sheet vehicles (1 January 2013).

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement

• New guidance on fair value measurement and disclosure requirements (1 January 2013).

IAS1 Presentation of Financial Statements

• New requirements to group together items within OCI that may be reclassified to the profit or loss section of the 

income statement in order to facilitate the assessment of their impact on the overall performance of an entity 

(1 July 2012).

IAS 12 Income Taxes

• Rebuttable presumption introduced that an investment property will be recovered in its entirety through sale

(1 July 2012).

Principal accounting policies
for the year ended 30 April 2012
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1. Basis of preparation (continued)

 1.1 Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued)

IAS 19 Employee Benefits

• Amendments to the accounting for current and future obligations resulting from the provision of defined benefit 

plans (1 January 2013).

IAS 27: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

• Consequential amendments resulting from the issue of IFRS 10, 11 and 12 (1 January 2013).

IAS 28 Investments in Associates

• Consequential amendments resulting from the issue of IFRS 10, 11 and 12 (1 January 2013).

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation

• Amendments require entities to disclose gross amounts subject to rights of set-off, amounts set-off in accordance 

with the accounting standards followed, and the net related credit exposure. This information will help investors 

understand the extent to which an entity has set-off in its balance sheet and the effects of rights of set-off on the 

entity’s rights and obligations (1 January 2013).

Interpretations

• IFRIC 20: Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine (1 January 2013).

The directors anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations in future periods will have no material 

impact on the financial statements of the group or the company.

2. Accounting policies

 2.1 Basis of consolidation

The group annual financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the company and all subsidiaries 

and associates.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group, where control is the power to, directly or indirectly, govern the financial 

and operating policies of the entity so as to obtain benefit from its activities, regardless of whether this power is actually 

exercised. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered 

when assessing whether the group controls another entity. Where the group’s interest in subsidiaries is less than 

100%, the share attributable to outside shareholders is reflected in non-controlling interests. Subsidiaries are included 

in the financial statements from the date control commences until the date control ceases.

The group recognises its share of associates’ results as a one-line entry before tax in the statement of comprehensive 

income, after accounting for interest, tax and non-controlling interests.

Investments in associates are accounted for by the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. 

The group’s investment in associates includes goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment loss) identified on 

acquisition.

The group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the statement of comprehensive 

income, and its share of post-acquisition reserve movements is recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-

acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When the group’s share of losses 

in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the group 

does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Subsidiary companies in the separate financial statements
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

In the event that businesses in subsidiaries are restructured and transferred to other subsidiaries in the group, 

the carrying value of the investment in the original subsidiary is re-allocated to the carrying value of the subsidiary that 

now houses the business.

Associate companies in the separate financial statements
Investments in associates are accounted for at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

 2.1 Basis of consolidation (continued)

Intra-group transactions and balances
All inter-group transactions, balances and unrealised profits between the group and its subsidiaries are eliminated on 

consolidation.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the group’s 

interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 

impairment of the asset transferred. Associates’ accounting policies have been changed where necessary to ensure 

consistency with the policies adopted by the group.

Transactions and non-controlling interests
The group applied a policy of treating transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity holders 

of the group. Gains or losses arising on the disposal of interests to non-controlling parties, that do not result in a loss 

of control, are accounted for directly in the statement of changes in equity. Any excess or deficit that occurs on the 

purchase of interests from non-controlling parties, where the group already has control, are accounted for directly in 

the statement of changes in equity.

 2.2 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method 

to write-off the cost of each asset to its residual value over its estimated useful life. Subsequently, property, plant 

and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Useful lives and residual values 

are re-assessed at the end of each financial period. The useful life applicable to each category of property, plant and 

equipment is estimated as follows:

Land Not depreciated

Freehold buildings and infrastructure 20 to 50 years

Plant and equipment 10 to 20 years

Motor vehicles  4 to 5 years

Computer equipment  2 to 4 years

Office equipment 10 years

Furniture and equipment  6 to 10 years

Leasehold improvements Over the duration of the lease period

The profit or loss arising on the disposal or scrapping of an asset is the difference between the sales proceeds and 

the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised as income or expense.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually for an indication of whether or not 

the relevant asset is impaired. If any such indication exists, and where the carrying amounts exceed the estimated 

recoverable amounts, the assets or cash-generating units are written-down to their recoverable amounts. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value 

in use.

Impairment losses and reversals are recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income under the line item 

“Operating expenses”. Reversals of impairments are limited to the carrying amount of the asset had no impairment 

been recognised previously.

 2.3 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases where substantially all the risks and rewards associated with ownership of an 

asset are transferred from the lessor to the group as lessee. Assets subject to finance leases are capitalised at their 

cash cost equivalent with the related lease obligation recognised at the same value. Capitalised leased assets are 

depreciated to their estimated residual values over their estimated useful lives. Finance lease payments are allocated, 

using the effective interest rate method, between lease finance costs, which is included in financing costs, and the 

capital repayment, which reduced the liability to the lessor. Leases where the lessor retains risks and rewards of 

ownership of the underlying asset are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are 

charged against income. Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit and loss on a straight-line basis 

over the term of the relevant lease.

Principal accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 30 April 2012
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

 2.4 Intangible assets

Goodwill
Goodwill on acquisitions comprises the excess of the fair value of the purchase consideration over the fair value 

of the net identifiable assets acquired. The costs of integrating and re-organising acquired businesses are charged 

to the post-acquisition statement of comprehensive income. All acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually. Gains and 

losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets are shown at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

Amortisation is charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 

lives of intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested for 

impairment at the end of each financial period. Other intangible assets are amortised from the date they are available 

for use.

The useful life applicable to each category of intangible asset is estimated as follows:

Customer related 1 to 3 years

Marketing related 10 years

Development costs 20 years

Carbon credit programme 21 years

Amortisation periods and methods are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.

 2.5 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value, whichever is the lowest. Cost and net realisable value 

are determined on the following bases:

• Finished goods are valued using the weighted average cost basis. Where necessary, specific provision is made for 

obsolete, redundant and slow-moving inventories, while provisions are made, based on the age of merchandise.

• Net realisable value is calculated as the estimated selling price less estimated costs to completion and marketing, 

selling and distribution costs

 2.6 Foreign currency

Transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are converted to South African Rand at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the 

transaction. Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are stated in South African Rand using rates of exchange ruling 

at the financial year-end. Resulting surpluses or deficits are included in financing costs and are separately identified.

Foreign subsidiaries and associates – translation
Once-off items in the statement of comprehensive income and statement of cash flows of foreign subsidiaries and 

associates expressed in currencies other than the South African Rand are translated to South African Rand at the 

rates of exchange prevailing on the day of the transaction. All other items are translated at weighted average rates 

of exchange for the relevant reporting period. Assets or liabilities of these undertakings are translated at closing 

rates of exchange at each reporting date. The difference that arise due to the above translations is recognised in the 

statement of changes in equity as a foreign currency translation reserve. For these purposes net assets include loans 

between group companies that form part of the net investment, for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to 

occur in the foreseeable future and is either denominated in the functional currency of the parent or the foreign entity. 

When a foreign operation is disposed of, any related exchange differences in equity are recycled through the statement 

of comprehensive income as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets or liabilities 

of the foreign entity.
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Principal accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 30 April 2012

2. Accounting policies (continued)

 2.7 Taxation

Current taxation
Current taxation comprises taxation payable calculated on the basis of the expected taxable income for the year, using 

the taxation rates substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment of taxation payable for previous 

years.

Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the taxation 

bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Currently, substantively 

enacted taxation rates are used to calculate deferred taxation. Deferred taxation assets relating to deductible temporary 

differences are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that they will result in future economic benefits, in 

the form of reductions in the future taxable income, for the group. Deferred taxation is charged to the statement 

of comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to transactions recognised directly in equity. The effect on 

deferred taxation of any changes in taxation rates is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, except to 

the extent that it relates to transactions recognised directly in equity.

 2.8 Business combinations

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the costs of acquisition over the group’s interest in the fair 

value of the identifiable assets (including intangibles), liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired entity at the 

date of acquisition. Where the fair value of the group’s share of separable net assets acquired exceeds the fair value 

of the consideration, the difference is recorded as negative goodwill. Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition is 

recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income.

Goodwill is stated at cost less impairment losses and is reviewed for impairment on an annual basis. Any impairment 

identified is recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income and is not reversed. Goodwill is 

allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. Each of those cash-generating units is in 

accordance with the basis on which the businesses are managed and according to the differing risk and reward profiles.

Common control transactions
Acquisitions of subsidiaries which do not result in a change of control of the subsidiaries are accounted for as common 

control transactions. The excess of the cost of the acquisition over the group’s interest in the carrying value of the 

identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired entity, is carried as a non-distributable reserve in the consolidated 

results.

 2.9 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, for which it 

is probable that an outflow of economic benefit will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 

made of the amount of the obligation.

 2.10 Revenue

Revenue is stated at invoice value of finished goods sold, excluding value-added tax. Revenue from the sale of goods is 

recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the buyer, costs can be measured 

reliably and receipt of the future benefits is probable. 

Other income earned by the group is recognised on the following basis:

• Interest income is recognised as it accrues on the effective interest method unless collectability is in doubt.

 2.11 Contract work

Where the outcome of contract work can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and costs are recognised by reference 

to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting period, as measured by the proportion that  

contact costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total contract costs.

Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that they have been agreed with 

the customer.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

 2.11 Contract work (continued)

When the outcome of contract work cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent that 

contract costs incurred are recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are 

incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an 

expense immediately.

Advance payments received are assessed on initial recognition to determine whether it is probable that it will be repaid 

in cash or another financial asset. In this instance, the advance payment is classified as a non-trading financial liability 

that is carried at amortised cost. If it is probable that the advance payment will be repaid with goods or services, the 

liability is carried at historic cost.

 2.12 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits
The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the employee renders the related 

service. The provisions for employees’ entitlements to wages, salaries, annual and sick leave represent the amount 

which the group has a present obligation to pay as a result of the employees’ services provided to the reporting date.

Retirement benefits
The group provides retirement benefits for employees by payments to independent defined contribution funds and 

contributions are charged against income as incurred. A financial review of the Ellies Pension Fund is undertaken 

annually.

 2.13 Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement
All financial instruments are recognised on the statement of financial position. Financial instruments are initially 

recognised when the group becomes party to the contractual terms of the instruments and are measured at fair 

value, which is generally the fair value of the consideration given (financial asset) or received (financial liability or 

equity instrument) for it. Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of 

the contractual arrangement on initial recognition. Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the 

financial instrument, except if it is classified as at fair value through profit or loss. Subsequent to initial recognition 

these instruments are measured as set out below:

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are stated at cost less provision for doubtful debts. The provision for impairment is 

established when there is objective evidence that the group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the 

original terms of the receivables. Bad debts are written-off during the year in which they are identified.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at their fair value. For the purpose of the statement of cash flow, cash and 

cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held on call, and investments in money market instruments, net of 

bank overdrafts, all of which are available for use by the group unless otherwise stated.

Financial liabilities
The group’s principal financial liabilities are long-term and short-term borrowings, accounts payable and bank 

overdrafts as set out below:

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 

stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is 

recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest 

method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the group has an unconditional right to defer settlement 

of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.
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Principal accounting policies (continued)
for the year ended 30 April 2012

2. Accounting policies (continued)

 2.13 Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Trade and other payables

Trade payables are measured initially at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 

effective interest rate method.

Bank overdrafts

Refer to “Cash and cash equivalents” above.

Derecognition
Financial assets (or a portion thereof) are derecognised when the group realises the rights to the benefits specified in 

the contract, the rights expire or the group surrenders or otherwise loses control of the contractual rights that comprise 

the financial asset. In derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and proceeds 

receivable and any prior adjustment to reflect fair value that had been reported in equity are included in the statement 

of comprehensive income. Financial liabilities (or a portion thereof) are derecognised when the obligation specified 

in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount 

of the financial liability, including related unamortised costs, and amount paid for it are included in the statement 

of comprehensive income.

Set-off
Where a legally enforceable right to set-off exists for recognised financial assets or financial liabilities, and there is 

an intention to settle the liability and realise the asset simultaneously, or to settle on a net basis, all related financial 

effects are set-off.

 2.14 Segment reporting

Operating segments have been identified using the management approach as required by IFRS 8, in terms of which 

segment classification is determined according to the basis on which management and the board review the operating 

results. 

Segment results include revenue and expenses directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion of enterprise 

revenue and expenses that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a segment, whether from external transactions 

or from transactions with other group segments.

Segment assets and liabilities comprise those assets and liabilities that are directly attributable to the segment or can 

be allocated to the segment on a reasonable basis.

3. Management estimates

Certain accounting policies have been identified as involving particularly complex or subjective judgements or assessments, 

as follows:

 3.1 Residual values and useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated over its useful life taking into account residual values, where appropriate. 

The actual lives of the assets and residual values are assessed annually and may vary depending on a number of 

factors. In re-assessing assets lives, factors such as technological innovation, product life cycles and maintenance 

programmes are taken into account. Residual value assessments consider issues such as future market conditions, 

the remaining life of the asset and projected disposal values.

 3.2 Goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment at each reporting date. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units to which 

a portion of goodwill relates, have been estimated based on value-in-use calculations. Value-in-use calculations have 

been based on an appropriate discount rate.

 3.3 Provisions

The warranty provision has been raised for future estimated warranty claims based on past experience for the group’s 

historical business and management’s best estimate for new business where warranty trends are not yet available.
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3. Management estimates (continued)

 3.4 Impairment of trade and other receivables

The group assesses its trade and other receivables for impairment at each reporting date. In determining whether any 

impairment should be recognised, the group makes judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a 

measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from each receivable.

 3.5 Discounting of trade receivables and trade payables

Normal trade credit terms in South Africa have been judged to be equal to 60 days. Where trade receivables and payables 

are settled beyond the normal trade credit terms, the transaction is deemed to include a financing arrangement. 

The resulting trade receivable or trade payable is discounted from the date of settlement to day 60 using an appropriate 

discount rate. The group discounts its trade receivables or trade payables using the borrowing rate the group could 

obtain from its commercial bankers for borrowing funds on similar terms.

 3.6 Inventory impairments

Impairment of inventory is calculated on a line-by-line basis with reference to average consumption to identify slow-

moving, defective or obsolete items.

 3.7 Deferred tax asset

The group recognises the future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is probable that 

the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred 

income tax assets requires the group to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. 

Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax 

laws. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of the group 

to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the reporting date could be impacted.
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Notes to annual financial statements
for the year ended 30 April 2012

1. Property, plant and equipment

 Plant and 

equipment 

 Motor 

vehicles 

 Computer 

equipment 

 Office 

equipment/ 

Furniture 

and fittings 

 Land and 

buildings/ 

Leasehold 

improve-

ments  Total

 R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000

GROUP

As at 30 April 2012

Cost  58 015  19 389  16 406  19 857  64 896  178 563

Accumulated depreciation  (36 215)  (13 141)  (13 111)  (12 566)  (3 154)  (78 187)

Net carrying value 21 800 6 248 3 295 7 291 61 742 100 376

Movement summary

Carrying value at 30 April 2011  18 690  5 851  3 325  5 075  43 643  76 584

Additions as a result of 

business combinations  –  21  87  20  –  128

Additions  10 659  3 246  1 924  3 840  19 230  38 899

Disposals  (1)  (76)  (11)  (47)  –  (135)

Depreciation  (7 548)  (2 775)  (2 028)  (1 595)  (1 128)  (15 074)

Foreign translation  –  (19)  (2)  (2)  (3)  (26)

Carrying value at 30 April 2012 21 800 6 248 3 295 7 291 61 742 100 376

As at 30 April 2011

Cost  47 398  17 605  14 617  16 394  45 666  141 680

Accumulated depreciation  (28 708)  (11 754)  (11 292)  (11 319)  (2 023)  (65 096)

Net carrying value 18 690 5 851 3 325 5 075 43 643 76 584

Movement summary

Carrying value at 30 April 2010  18 501  6 571  2 276  4 128  1 583  33 059

Additions  5 617  2 278  2 787  2 721  43 100  56 503

Disposals  –  (566)  (1)  (28)  –  (595)

Depreciation  (5 428)  (2 361)  (1 728)  (1 731)  (980)  (12 228)

Foreign translation  –  (71)  (9)  (15)  (60)  (155)

Carrying value at 30 April 2011 18 690 5 851 3 325 5 075 43 643 76 584

Property, plant and equipment with a carrying value of R42 768 591 (2011: R43 291 480) is encumbered as security against 

certain interest-bearing liabilities (refer note 14). A register of land and buildings is available for inspection at the registered 

office of the company.

COMPANY

The company has no property, plant and equipment.
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

2. Goodwill
Cost  218 304  218 304  –  – 

Accumulated impairments (750) (750)  –  – 

Net carrying value  217 554  217 554  –  – 

Arising on acquisition of companies/business of:

Ellies Group of companies  52 608  52 608  –  – 

Megatron Federal business  164 946  164 946  –  – 

Closing net carrying value  217 554  217 554  –  – 

Impairment review

In accordance with IAS 36: Impairment of Assets, Goodwill and Intangible Assets with Indefinite Useful Lives, are reviewed 

annually for impairment, or more frequently if there is an indication that goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amount of goodwill relating to all cash-generating units has been determined on the basis of value-in-use 

calculations. All these cash-generating units operate in the same economic environment for which the same key assumptions 

have been used. These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial projections, covering a five-year period 

and a discount rate of 17.04% (2011: 18.87%) for all cash-generating units. Cash flows beyond the five-year period were 

extrapolated using a steady 4% (2011: 4%) nominal growth rate. Management believes that this growth rate does not exceed 

the long-term average growth rate for the market in which the companies operate. Any changes in revenue or costs are based 

on past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.

3. Intangible assets

 Customer-

related 

 Marketing-

related 

 Develop-

ment 

costs 

 Carbon 

credit 

programme  Total

 R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000

GROUP

As at 30 April 2012

Cost  9 759  3 338  4 470  1 596  19 163 

Accumulated amortisation (9 759) (1 336) (595)  –   (11 690)

Net carrying value  –    2 002  3 875  1 596  7 473 

Estimated remaining useful life of the 

intangibles  –   6 years 18 years 21 years

Movement summary

Carrying value at 30 April 2011  –    2 336  4 098  –    6 434 

Additions during the year  –    –    –    1 596  1 596 

Amortisation for the year  –   (334) (223)  –   (557)

Carrying value at 30 April 2012  –    2 002  3 875  1 596  7 473 

As at 30 April 2011

Cost  9 759  3 338  4 470  –    17 567 

Accumulated amortisation (9 759) (1 002) (372)  –   (11 133)

Net carrying value  –    2 336  4 098  –    6 434 

Estimated remaining useful life of the 

intangibles  –   7 years 19 years –

Movement summary

Carrying value at 30 April 2010  1 890  3 004  4 321  –    9 215 

Amortisation for the year (1 890) (668) (223)  –   (2 781)

Carrying value at 30 April 2011  –    2 336  4 098  –    6 434

COMPANY

The company has no intangible assets.
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Country of 

incorporation 

Ownership

percentage Shares at cost

 2012  2011  2012  2011

 % %  R’000  R’000

4. Investments in subsidiaries
COMPANY

Ellies Proprietary Limited South Africa  100  100  318 773  318 773

Archsat Investments (Gauteng) Proprietary Limited South Africa  100  100  5 120  5 120

Ellies Electronics (Namibia) Proprietary Limited Namibia  100  100  9 288  9 288

Ellies Electronics (Botswana) Proprietary Limited Botswana  100  100  2 228  2 228

Elsat (Botswana) Proprietary Limited Botswana  100  100  2 228  2 228

Ellies Electronics (SWD) Proprietary Limited Swaziland  100  100 * *

Ellies Properties Proprietary Limited South Africa  100  100 * *

In-toto Solutions Proprietary Limited South Africa  51  51 * *

 337 637  337 637

* Amounts are less than R1 000.

The aggregate amounts from subsidiaries included in group results amounts to:

Profits  171 355  99 879

Losses (2 600) (3 185)

 168 755  96 694

5. Investment in associate

Country of 

incorporation Ownership Shares at cost

 2012  2011  2012  2011

 %  %  R’000  R’000

GROUP

SkyeVine Proprietary Limited (“SkyeVine”) South Africa  45  45  –  1 039

Shares at cost  – *

Loan receivable  4 932  1 570

Equity accounted losses:

Share of loss from associate (4 932) (531)

 Prior years (531)  – 

 Current year (4 401) (531)

 – 1 039

* Amount is less than R1 000.

The aggregate amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and profits of the associate have not been shown, as the entity has just 

started trading and the current amounts are not significant.

For the year ended 30 April 2012, SkyeVine made a loss in excess of the funding given to the company. The group has issued 

a guarantee on behalf of SkyeVine to Intelsat New Dawn for $319 000 (2011: $319 000) (refer to note 34).

COMPANY

The company holds the 45% (2011: 45%) in SkyeVine at a cost of R450 (2011: R450).

Notes to annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 April 2012
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

6. Deferred taxation
The balance consists of:

Capital allowances (2 175) (780)  –  – 

Provision for employee benefits 4 504 3 461  –  – 

Provisions for bad debts and other provisions 

against receivables 2 682 1 359  –  – 

Lease obligations 529 245  –  – 

Income received in advance 276 3 073  –  – 

Intangible assets (561) (654)  –  – 

Assessed losses 2 132  1 065  –  – 

Other 62  27  –  – 

 7 449  7 796  –  – 

Movement summary

Balance at the beginning of the year  7 796  5 610  –  – 

Foreign translation  98  (6)  –  – 

Temporary differences per statement of 

comprehensive income  (445 )  2 192  –  – 

 Capital allowances (1 563)  (115)  –  – 

 Provision for employee benefits 1 043  633  –  – 

 Pre-paid expenses  –  14  –  – 

  Provisions for bad debts and other provisions 

against receivables 1 323  (390)  –  – 

 Lease obligations 284  (124)  –  – 

 Income in advance (2 797)  728  –  – 

 Intangible assets 93  358  –  – 

 Assessed losses 1 067  1 061  –  – 

 Other 105  27  –  – 

Balance at the end of the year  7 449  7 796  –  – 

Disclosed as:

Deferred taxation – non-current asset  7 842  7 942  –  – 

Deferred taxation – non-current liability  (393)  (146)  –  – 

 7 449  7 796  –  – 

ELLIES INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2012 •••• 73



Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

7. Inventories
Raw materials  43  48  –  – 

Merchandise  456 609  355 831  –  – 

Work in progress  74 588  10 728  –  – 

Goods in transit  15 404  20 591  –  – 

Gross inventories  546 644  387 198  –  – 

Impairment provision raised against inventories  (40 267)  (28 303)  –  – 

 506 377  358 895  –  – 

Movement in impairment provision raised 

against inventories

Balance at the beginning of the year  28 303  23 435  –  – 

Impairment provisions raised 12 405  7 645  –  – 

Impairment provisions reversed (441)  (2 777)  –  – 

Balance at the end of the year  40 267  28 303  –  – 

Inventory up to a maximum of R50 million (2011: R50 million) 

have been encumbered to secure certain banking facilities.

8. Trade and other receivables
Gross trade receivables  454 730  221 601  –  – 

Provision for doubtful debts  (7 065)  (6 651)  –  – 

Net trade receivables  447 665  214 950  –  – 

Pre-payments  886  2 669  –  – 

Deposits  505  334  –  – 

Value-added taxation  5 321  5 315  –  – 

Other receivables  1 891  1 051  –  – 

 456 268  224 319  –  – 

  Trade receivables have been encumbered to Standard Bank Limited to secure certain banking facilities. A reversionary 

cession of trade debtors has been given to Blue Strata Trading Proprietary Limited for credit facilities granted to the group. 

  Trade receivables are stated at cost less impairment provisions which normally approximate their fair value due to their 

short-term maturity.

  Before accepting any new customer, the group performs credit checks utilising external credit bureaus and banks. Industry 

knowledge and visits to potential customer premises assist in the decision to accept a new customer and the setting of credit 

limits.

 Credit limits are continuously monitored through payment history checks and industry information.

Notes to annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 April 2012
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

8. Trade and other receivables (continued)
Movement in impairment provision raised 

against receivables

Balance at the beginning of the year  6 651  8 463  –  – 

Impairment provisions raised  510  888  –  – 

Impairment provisions utilised  (96)  (2 700)  –  – 

Balance at the end of the year  7 065  6 651  –  – 

Basis of raising impairment provision against receivables

 All trade and other receivables are continuously reviewed on 

an individual basis. When all reasonable measures have been 

taken, without success, in recovering a receivable amount and 

when reasonable doubt exists as to the recoverability of any 

such individual receivable amount, a corresponding provision 

for impairment is raised. Provisions for impairment raised 

against receivables are reversed when a receivable amount is 

either written-off as bad debt, or when an amount previously 

provided against is received.

Related credit exposure and enhancements

Maximum exposure to credit losses of trade and 

other receivables  455 382  221 650  –  – 

Trade receivables past due but not impaired

Amounts 30 days overdue  42 533  25 033  –  – 

Amounts 60 days overdue  18 588  11 016  –  – 

Amounts 90 days and more overdue  56 625  15 385  –  – 

 117 746  51 434  –  – 

The majority of these amounts have been received subsequent 

to year-end.

9. Loan to subsidiary
 Ellies Proprietary Limited  182 251  182 210

This amount is unsecured, interest free, with no fixed terms of repayment.
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

10. Bank and cash balances
Petty cash  975  267  –  – 

Bank accounts  12 704  8 641  188  189

CFC bank accounts  35 693  62 700  –  – 

Bank overdrafts  (91 584)  (46 256)  –  – 

 (42 212)  25 352  188  189

Disclosed as:

Current asset  49 372  71 608  188  189

Current liability  (91 584)  (46 256)  –  – 

 (42 212)  25 352  188  189

Banking facilities

 The group has overdraft and other short-term bank facilities 

of R105 million (2011: R105 million). At year-end R13.5 million 

(2011: R46.2 million) of these facilities were unutilised.

The banking facilities of the company and its subsidiaries are 

secured as follows:

–  general notarial bond over all moveable assets 

R50 million (2011: R50 million);

– cession of trade and other receivables.

(Refer to notes 7 and 8 for full details).

11. Share capital
Authorised

800 000 000 (2011: 800 000 000) ordinary shares 

of R0.00001 each  8  8  8  8

Issued

303 505 691 (2011: 303 505 691) ordinary shares 

of R0.00001 each  3  3  3  3

2012 2011 2012 2011

 Number of

 shares 

 Number of

 shares 

 Number of

 shares 

 Number of

 shares 

In issue at the beginning and end of the year 303 505 691 303 505 691 303 505 691 303 505 691

The unissued ordinary shares are under the control of the directors until the next Annual General Meeting.

Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

12. Share premium
Share premium on issued ordinary shares  510 641  510 641  510 641  510 641

Issue expenses set-off against share premium  (9 150)  (9 150)  (9 150)  (9 150)

 501 491  501 491  501 491  501 491

Notes to annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 April 2012
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

13. Non-distributable reserves
Arising from common control transactions  (178 194)  (178 194)  –  – 

Foreign currency translation reserve  (713)  (681)  –  – 

 (178 907)  (178 875)  –  – 

Movement summary for foreign currency 

translation reserve

Balance at the beginning of the year  (681)  (473)  –  – 

Translation of foreign entity  (32)  (208)  –  – 

Balance at the end of the year  (713)  (681)  –  – 

14. Interest-bearing liabilities
Non-current portion  163 150  43 913  –  – 

Instalment sale liabilities  150  370  –  – 

Medium-term facility  130 000  –  –  – 

Term loan  –  6 754  –  – 

Property term loan  33 000  36 789  –  – 

Current portion  11 190  29 672  –  – 

Instalment sale liabilities  463  567  –  – 

Term loan  6 812  25 608  –  – 

Property term loan  3 915  3 497  –  – 

 174 340  73 585  –  – 

Repayment terms (discounted)

1 year  11 190  29 672  –  – 

2 – 5 years  163 150  43 913  –  – 

 174 340  73 585  –  – 

  The instalment sale liabilities bear interest at various rates linked to prime and are currently between 9.75% and 12.00% 

p.a. (2011: 9.75% and 12.00% p.a.) and are repayable in monthly instalments of R44 259 (2011: R92 939). These liabilities are 

secured by plant and equipment with a carrying value of R1 415 138 (2011: R1 938 027).

  The medium-term facility represents a loan which bears interest at the prime rate of interest (2011: nil) and is not repayable 

before 31 May 2013. It is the intention to convert this medium-term facility into a term loan during the next 12 months.

  The term loan bears interest at JIBAR 90 + 4% (2011: JIBAR 90 + 4%) and is repayable in quarterly instalments of R6.5 million 

(2011: R5.2 million).

 The property term loan comprises two facilities:

  • R20 million at JIBAR 90 + 3% and is repayable in quarterly instalments of R1.2 million (2011: R1.2 million).

  •  R20 million at JIBAR 90 + 3.25%. Interest amounting to R0.4 million is repayable quarterly and the capital is repayable 

on 31 March 2016.

 The property term loan is secured by plant and equipment with a carrying value of R41 353 453 (2011: R41 353 453).

 All interest-bearing liabilities are denominated in South African Rand.

 The directors consider the carrying amount of interest-bearing liabilities to approximate their fair value.
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

15. Vendor loans
Arising from the acquisition of the business of Andrews 

Wireless Solutions Africa Proprietary Limited on 

1 November 2011 (refer to note 27).

Non-current portion  1 171  –  –  – 

Current portion  752  –  –  – 

 1 923  –  –  – 

This loan is interest free. Imputed interest was calculated 

on this loan at rates linked to prime.

The directors consider the carrying amount of vendor loan 

to approximate its fair value.

16. Trade and other payables
Trade payables  221 833  142 235  –  – 

Accrued expenses  15 342  8 340  –  – 

Employee benefits  38 364  21 915  –  – 

Value-added taxation  3 849  1 488  –  – 

Lease liability (straight-lining)  1 891  875  –  – 

Income received in advance  10 605  68 384  –  – 

Other payables  2 128  1 945  47  48

 294 012  245 182  47  48

The directors consider the carrying amount of trade 

and other payables to approximate their fair value.

17. Provisions
Provision for warranty

Balance at the beginning of the year  2 258  1 493  –  – 

Provision movement  10 452  765  –  – 

Balance at the end of the year  12 710  2 258  –  – 

Notes to annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 April 2012
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

18. Profit from operations
Profit from operations is stated after taking the following 

items into account:

Foreign exchange profits/(losses)  1 203  (492)  –  – 

Depreciation

Plant and equipment  7 548  5 428  –  – 

Motor vehicles  2 775  2 361  –  – 

Computer equipment  2 028  1 728  –  – 

Office equipment/Furniture and fittings  1 595  1 731  –  – 

Land and buildings/Leasehold improvements  1 128  980  –  – 

 15 074  12 228  –  – 

Amortisation

Amortisation of intangible assets  557  1 502  –  – 

Operating lease and rental charges

Premises  26 009  21 056  –  – 

Other  84  68  –  – 

 26 093  21 124  –  – 

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment  322  301  –  – 

Employee costs

Directors  16 297  12 658  –  – 

Other staff  275 108  216 567  –  – 

 291 405  229 225  –  – 

Audit fees

Audit fees – current year  2 206  2 860  –  – 

Audit fees – prior year  (436)  12  –  – 

Other services  108  357  –  – 

 1 878  3 229  –  – 

19. Interest received
Funds and deposits with banks  94  499  –  – 

Interest received from taxation authorities  –  6  –  – 

Other  45  43  –  – 

 139  548  –  – 
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

20. Interest paid
Bank overdraft  15 435  5 384  –  – 

Interest-bearing liabilities  5 272  6 878  –  – 

Deemed interest incurred on vendor loans  94  481  –  481

Interest paid to taxation authorities  –  23  –  – 

Other  2 709  53  –  – 

 23 510  12 819  –  481

21. Taxation
South African normal taxation

Current year  65 153  39 734  18  17

Prior year overprovision  (33)  (16)  –  – 

Deferred taxation

Current year  445  (2 192)  –  – 

Secondary Tax on Companies  –  1 518  –  1 518

 65 565  39 044  18  1 535

Reconciliation of rate of taxation:  %  %  %  %

South African normal taxation rate  28,00  28,00  28,00  28,00

Exempt income/Disallowable expense  0,03  0,15  –  (27,96)

Tax losses  –  (0,02)  –  – 

Prior year adjustments  (0,02)  (0,01)  –  – 

Foreign taxes  (0,05)  (0,08)  –  – 

Secondary Taxation on Companies  –  1,14  –  3,59

Equity-accounted losses  0,54  0,11  –  – 

Other  0,01  0,01  –  – 

Effective taxation rate  28,51  29,30  28,00  3,63

22. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (cents)  54,53  31,49

Headline earnings per share (cents)  54,45  31,42

The calculation of earnings per ordinary share for the group 

is based on the following:

– Basic earnings  165 491  95 573

– Headline earnings  165 259  95 356

– Weighted average ordinary number of shares in issue  303 505 691  303 505 691

Reconciliation of headline earnings:

Profit for the year  165 491  95 573

Adjusted for:

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (232)  (217)

 Gross amount  (322)  (301)

 Taxation  90  84

Headline earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders  165 259  95 356

Notes to annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 April 2012
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

23. Cash (utilised by)/generated from 
operations
Profit before taxation  229 968  133 253  67  42 271

Adjusted for:

– Interest received  (139)  (548)  –  – 

– Interest paid  23 510  12 819  –  481

– Dividends received  –  –  –  (42 687)

– Depreciation  15 074  12 228  –  – 

– Amortisation of intangibles  557  1 502  –  – 

– Foreign currency translation reserve  (104)  (47)  –  – 

– Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (322)  (301)  –  – 

– Equity-accounted losses  4 401  531  –  – 

– Increase in provisions  10 452  765  –  – 

 283 397  160 202  67  65

Changes in working capital  (327 126)  5 798  (1)  (164)

 Increase in inventories  (142 885)  (61 084)  –  – 

 Increase in trade and other receivables  (231 949)  (30 954)  –  – 

 Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  47 708  97 836  (1)  (164)

 (43 729)  166 000  66  (99)

24. Interest paid in cash
Total interest paid (refer to note 20)  23 510  12 819  –  481

Imputed interest on vendor loans  (94)  (481)  –  (481)

 23 416  12 338  –  – 

25. Taxation paid
Balance at beginning of the year  681  5 377  8  6

Charged to the statement of comprehensive income  65 120  41 236  18  1 535

Balance at end of the year  (9 662)  (681)  –  (8)

 56 139  45 932  26  1 533

26. Dividends paid
Balance at beginning of the year  188  –  188  – 

Dividends declared during the year  –  15 176  –  15 176

Balance owing at end of the year  (188)  (188)  (188)  (188)

 –  14 988  –  14 988
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

27. Business combinations
The Megatron Federal division of Ellies Proprietary Limited 

acquired the business of Andrews Wireless Solutions Africa 

Proprietary Limited on 1 November 2011.

Fair value of net assets acquired

Property, plant and equipment  128  –  –  – 

Inventory – Work in Progress  4 597  –  –  – 

Trade and other accounts payable  (1 122)  –  –  – 

Total net assets acquired/purchase consideration  3 603  –  –  – 

Discharged as follows: 3 603 – – –

  Cash payments made during the year 

(excluding deemed interest)  1 719  –  –  – 

  Deferred payment due in the future  1 884  –  –  – 

Cash paid during the year

Cash payments made during the year 

(excluding deemed interest)  1 719  –  –  – 

Deemed interest charged  55  –  –  – 

 1 774  –  –  – 

 Revenue 

 Loss 

before tax

 R’000  R’000

Pro forma amount as if the acquisitions occurred at the beginning of the year  10 195 (3 337)

Actual amounts included in results  5 366 (1 589)

Notes to annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 April 2012
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

28. Commitments
Capital commitments

There are no capital commitments.

Operating leases commitments

 Computer and office equipment  561  1 067  –  – 

 Premises  41 208  36 632  –  – 

 41 769  37 699  –  – 

These commitments accrue in the following periods:

Due within one year  10 043  14 334  –  – 

Due within years two to five  30 955  16 595  –  – 

Due after five years  770  5 870  –  – 

 41 768  36 799  –  – 

These commitments include a new five-year lease concluded after year-end for the Ellies Cape Town office.

29. Retirement benefits
  All contributions on behalf of employees are charged to the statement of comprehensive income as they are made. 

The company has no liability towards any pension or provident fund, apart from normal recurring monthly contributions 

deducted from employees to be paid to relevant funds.
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30. Analysis of assets and liabilities by financial instrument classification

 Loans and receivables 

 Financial liabilities at 

amortised cost 

 2012  2011  2012  2011 

 R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000 

GROUP

Non-current assets  –  1 039  –  – 

Property, plant and equipment  –  –  –  – 

Goodwill and other intangible assets  –  –  –  – 

Investment in associate  –  1 039  –  – 

Deferred taxation  –  –  –  – 

Current assets  499 433  287 943  –  – 

Inventories  –  –  –  – 

Trade and other receivables  450 061  216 335  –  – 

Taxation receivable  –  –  –  – 

Bank and cash balances  49 372  71 608  –  – 

Total assets  499 433  288 982  – 

Capital and reserves  –  –  –  – 

Share capital and premium  –  –  –  – 

Non-distributable reserves  –  –  –  – 

Retained earnings  –  –  –  – 

Non-controlling interests  –  –  –  – 

Non-current liabilities  –  –  164 321  43 913 

Interest-bearing liabilities  –  –  163 150  43 913 

Vendor loans payable  –  –  1 171  – 

Deferred taxation  –  –  –  – 

Current liabilities  –  –  343 017  228 636 

Interest-bearing liabilities  –  –  11 190  29 672 

Vendor loans payable  –  –  752  – 

Trade and other payables  –  –  239 303  152 520 

Provisions  –  –  –  – 

Taxation payable  –  –  –  – 

Shareholders for dividend  –  –  188  188 

Bank overdrafts  –  –  91 584  46 256 

Total equity and liabilities  –  –  507 338  272 549 

COMPANY

Non-current assets

Investment in subsidiaries  –  –  –  – 

Current assets  182 439  182 399  –  – 

Other current assets  182 251  182 210  –  – 

Bank and cash balances  188  189  –  – 

Total assets  182 439  182 399  –  – 

Capital and reserves  –  –  –  – 

Share capital and premium  –  –  –  – 

Retained losses  –  –  –  – 

Current liabilities  –  –  235  236 

Vendor loans payable  –  –  –  – 

Trade and other payables  –  –  47  48 

Shareholders for dividend  –  –  188  188 

Taxation payable  –  –  –  – 

Total equity and liabilities  –  –  235  236 

Notes to annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 April 2012
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Non-financial instruments  Equity  Total

 2012  2011  2012  2011  2012  2011

 R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000

 333 245  308 514  –  –  333 245  309 553

 100 376  76 584  –  –  100 376  76 584

 225 027  223 988  –  –  225 027  223 988

 –  –  –  –  –  1 039

 7 842  7 942  –  –  7 842  7 942

 512 923  367 297  –  –  1 012 356  655 240

 506 377  358 895  –  –  506 377  358 895

 6 207  7 984  –  –  456 268  224 319

 339  418  –  –  339  418

 –  –  –  –  49 372  71 608

 846 168  675 811  –  –  1 345 601  964 793

 –  –  760 450  596 079  760 450  596 079

 –  –  501 494  501 494  501 494  501 494

 –  – (178 907) (178 875) (178 907) (178 875)

 –  – 440 315 274 824 440 315 274 824

 –  – (2 452) (1 364) (2 452) (1 364)

 393  146  –  –  164 714  44 059

 –  –  –  –  163 150  43 913

 –  –  –  –  1 171  – 

 393  146  –  –  393  146

 77 420  96 019  –  –  420 437  324 655

 –  –  –  –  11 190  29 672

 –  –  –  –  752  – 

 54 709  92 662  –  –  294 012  245 182

 12 710  2 258  –  –  12 710  2 258

 10 001  1 099  –  –  10 001  1 099

 –  –  –  –  188  188

 –  –  –  –  91 584  46 256

 77 813  96 165  760 450  596 079  1 345 601  964 793

 337 637  337 637  –  –  337 637  337 637

 –  –  –  –  182 439  182 399

 –  –  –  –  182 251  182 210

 –  –  –  –  188  189

 337 637  337 637  –  –  520 076  520 036

 –  –  519 841  519 792  519 841  519 792

 –  –  501 494  501 494  501 494  501 494

 –  – 18 347 18 298 18 347 18 298

 –  8  –  –  235  244

 –  –  –  –  –  – 

 –  –  –  –  47  48

 –  –  –  –  188  188

 –  8  –  –  –  8

 –  8  519 841  519 792  520 076  520 036
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31. Financial risk management
  The group’s operations expose it to a number of financial risks. A risk management programme has been established to 

protect the group against the potential adverse effects of these financial risks.

 31.1 Currency risk management

   The group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies and therefore has exposure to exchange 

fluctuations. The group manages exchange rate exposures through its currency holdings (CFC accounts) and by making 

cost adjustments in terms of the agreements with clients.

 31.2 Interest rate risk

   The group is exposed to interest rate risk as it borrows and places funds. This risk is managed by utilising an appropriate 

mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings and placing funds on short-term deposit. It is the group’s policy not to 

hedge interest rate exposure.

 31.3 Liquidity risk

   Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will be unable to meet a financial commitment in any location or currency. The 

cash requirements of the group are managed according to its needs from time to time. The company manages liquidity 

risk by monitoring forecast cash flows and ensuring that adequate cash resources and unutilised borrowing facilities 

are maintained.

   Liquidity risk – maturity analysis of financial liabilities

 Expected settlement period of financial liabilities

Carrying 

value of 

financial 

liabilities No terms ‹6 months

6 – 12 

months ›12 months

Total un-

discounted 

value of 

financial 

liabilities

 R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000

GROUP

30 April 2012

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities  163 150  –  –  –  170 350  170 350

Vendor loans payable  1 171  –  –  –  1 269  1 269

Current liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities  11 190  –  7 069  7 059  –  14 128

Vendor loans payable  752  –  –  752  –  752

Trade and other payables  239 303  –  239 303  –  –  239 303

Shareholders for dividend  188  188  –  –  –  188

Bank overdrafts  91 584  91 584  –  –  –  91 584

 507 338  91 772  246 372  7 811  171 619  517 574

30 April 2011

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities  43 913  –  –  –  54 206  54 206

Current liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities  29 672  –  17 500  17 504  –  35 004

Trade and other payables  152 520  –  152 520  –  –  152 520

Shareholders for dividend  188  188  –  –  –  188

Bank overdrafts  46 256  46 256  –  –  –  46 256

 272 549  46 444  170 020  17 504  54 206  288 174

Notes to annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 April 2012
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31. Financial risk management (continued)

31.3 Liquidity risk (continued)

 Liquidity risk – maturity analysis of financial liabilities (continued)

 Expected settlement period of financial liabilities

Carrying 

value of 

financial 

liabilities No terms ‹6 months

6 – 12 

months ›12 months

Total un-

discounted 

value of 

financial 

liabilities

 R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000

COMPANY

30 April 2012

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables  47  –  47  –  –  47

Shareholders for dividend  188  188  –  –  –  188

 235  188  47  –  –  235

30 April 2011

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables  48  –  48  –  –  48

Shareholders for dividend  188  188  –  –  –  188

 236  188  48  –  –  236

 31.4 Capital risk management

 The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern 

in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital 

structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings, as disclosed in notes 14 and 15, cash 

and cash equivalents as disclosed in note 10, and equity as disclosed in the statement of financial position.

Consistent with others in the industry, the group monitors capital on the basis of the debt : equity ratio.

This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including ‘current 

and non-current borrowings’ as shown in the statement of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total 

equity is represented in the statement of financial position.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally 

imposed capital requirements from the previous year.
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Group Company

2012 2011 2012 2011

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

31. Financial risk management (continued)

31.4 Capital risk management (continued)

The debt : equity ratios are as follows:

Total borrowings

Interest-bearing liabilities  174 340  73 585 – –

Vendor loans payable  1 923  – – –

 176 263  73 585 – –

Add/(less): Cash and cash equivalents/(net borrowings) 42 212 (25 352) – –

Net debt  218 475  48 233 – –

Total equity  760 450  596 079 – –

Total capital  978 925  644 312 – –

Debt : Equity ratio  0.29:1  0.08:1 – –

The increase was mainly due as a result as at 30 April 2011, the group’s positive cash position was largely due to 

creditor financing and significant cash receipts against contract orders placed prior to the year-end. Soon thereafter a 

significant portion of this cash was utilised for the fulfilment of these contract orders.

31.5 Sensitivity analysis

Foreign exchange risk 

Profit/(loss) should the Rand 

exchange rate change by 2% 

Interest rate risk

Profit/(loss) should the interest 

rate change by 2%

Carrying 

value

Amount 

subject 

to risk

Rand 

appre-

ciation

Rand 

depre-

ciation

Amount 

subject 

to risk

Rate 

increase

Rate 

decrease

 R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000

GROUP

30 April 2012

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables  456 268  43 078  (882)  882  –  –  – 

Bank and cash balances  49 372  38 834  (1 303)  1 303  9 563  191  (191)

Impact of financial assets on:

– profit before taxation (2 185) 2 185 191 (191)

– profit after taxation (1 573) 1 573 138 (138)

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities (174 340)  –  –  – (174 340)  (3 487)  3 487

Trade and other payables (294 012) (74)  1  (1)  –  –  – 

Bank overdrafts (91 584)  –  –  – (91 584)  (1 832)  1 832

Impact of financial liabilities on:

– profit before taxation 1 (1) (5 318) 5 318

– profit after taxation 1 (1) (3 829) 3 829

Overall impact on profit 

after taxation (1 572) 1 572 (3 692) 3 692

Notes to annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 April 2012
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31. Financial risk management (continued)

31.5 Sensitivity analysis (continued)

Foreign exchange risk 

Profit/(loss) should the Rand 

exchange rate change by 2% 

Interest rate risk

Profit/(loss) should the interest 

rate change by 2%

Carrying 

value

Amount 

subject 

to risk

Rand 

appre-

ciation

Rand 

depre-

ciation

Amount 

subject 

to risk

Rate 

increase

Rate 

decrease

 R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000

GROUP

30 April 2011

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables  224 319  7 481  (150)  150  –  –  – 

Bank and cash balances  71 608  62 084  (1 242)  1 242  8 641  173  (173)

Impact of financial assets on:

– profit before taxation (1 392) 1 392 173 (173)

– profit after taxation (1 002) 1 002 125 (125)

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities (73 585)  –  –  – (73 585)  (1 472)  1 472

Trade and other payables (245 182) (13 142)  263  (263)  –  –  – 

Bank overdrafts (46 256)  –  –  – (46 256)  (925)  925

Impact of financial liabilities on:

– profit before taxation 263 (263) (2 397) 2 397

– profit after taxation 189 (189) (1 726) 1 726

Overall impact on profit 

after taxation (813) 813 (1 601) 1 601

 COMPANY

  No company sensitivity analysis is presented as there were no balances exposed to foreign exchange risk and the only 

interest rate risk would relate to bank and call deposits of R188 000 (2011: R189 000) at year-end, on which the after-tax 

impact on profit or loss would be R2 160 (2011: R2 702) should the interest rate change by 2% (2011: 2%).
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32. Related party information

2012 2011

GROUP R’000 R’000

Related parties include transactions with directors and key management or entities where 

directors or key management have an interest. During the year, the group entered into 

various transactions with related parties on an arm’s length basis:

Related parties

Abrina 2950 Proprietary Limited – Common directors

Logos Industries Proprietary Limited – Common directors

Java Capital Proprietary Limited – Common directors

JQ Prosper CC – Common directors/members

Megatron Properties Proprietary Limited – Common directors

Raylad Distributors CC – Common directors/members

RZT Zelpy 4534 Proprietary Limited – Common directors

Savilas Properties Proprietary Limited – Common directors

Tamryn Manor Proprietary Limited – Common directors

Vegtu Investments Proprietary Limited – Common directors

ZAH Properties Proprietary Limited – Close family member

Related parties transactions

Sales  7 121  3 371

Purchases  2 829  2 608

Rent paid  12 368  5 393

Interest paid  –  49

Operating expenses  145  131

Listing and legal expenses  267  221

Acquisition of land and buildings  –  13 700

Related parties balances

Logos Industries Proprietary Limited  3 498  990

Savilas Properties Proprietary Limited – included in accounts receivable  200  182

There were no other material balances at year-end.

COMPANY

 Related parties include the subsidiary companies, shareholders and directors. During the 

year, the company entered into various transactions with related parties on an arm’s length 

basis:

Related parties

Ellies Proprietary Limited – Common directors/subsidiary

Subsidiaries of the company are listed in note 4

Associate of the company is listed in note 5

Java Capital Proprietary Limited – Common directors

Related parties transactions

Administration fees  840  490

Operating expenses  145  131

Related parties balances

All related party balances at year-end are disclosed in note 9.

Notes to annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 April 2012
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33. Segmental analysis

 Revenue 

Depreciation 

and amortisation 

Profit/(loss) from 

operations after 

associate’s loss

2012  2011  2012  2011  2012  2011

 R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000

Segments

Consumer Goods and Services  1 140 467  1 095 946  10 036  10 251  164 607 124 772

Infrastructure  559 240  216 540  5 305  3 476  91 097 22 821

Property  6 342  3 131  278  –  5 271 2 646

Other  11 545  3 569  12  4 (6 863) (4 289)

Holding company/consolidation (6 342) (3 131)  –  – (773) (426)

 1 711 252  1 316 055  15 631  13 731  253 339  145 524

Group accounts

Interest received  139  548

Interest paid (23 510) (12 819)

 Property (3 720) (1 682)

 Other (19 790) (11 137)

Taxation (65 565) (39 044)

Profit for the year after tax  164 403  94 209

 Segment assets  Segment liabilities Capital expenditure

 2012  2011  2012  2011  2012  2011

 R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000  R’000

Segments

Consumer Goods and Services  779 561  562 594  346 783  225 246  11 545  10 395

Infrastructure  450 607  285 043  89 931  52 951  11 859  4 729

Property  57 436  42 082  55 922  41 636  15 470  41 353

Other  8 625  3 467  696  2 380  25  26

Holding company/consolidation  –  –  235  245  –  – 

 1 296 229  893 186  493 567  322 458  38 899  56 503

Cash and cash equivalents/bank 

overdrafts  49 372  71 608  91 584  46 256

Total  1 345 601  964 794  585 151  368 714
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34. Guarantees and contingent liabilities
•  Unlimited suretyship given by Ellies Holdings Limited to Blue Strata Trading Proprietary Limited, a supplier, for facilities 

of R60 million (2011: R30 million).

2012 2011

000’s 000’s

• Lombards Insurance Company Limited have issued various “Performance Guarantees” 

and “Bid Security Guarantees” as follows:

• Australian Dollars  –  749

• Ugandan Shilling  350 000  – 

• US Dollars  3 323  7 663

All these “Performance Guarantees” and “Bid Security Guarantees” expire within the next 12 months.

The directors do not believe any exposure to loss is likely.

2012 2011

R’000 R’000

• Standard Bank Limited have issued the following guarantees on behalf of the group:

• Sasol Oil Proprietary Limited  200  200

• SARS customs  1 150  1 150

• Property purchase  5 700  – 

• Various relating to infrastructural electrification division  –  5 989

• Intelsat New Dawn (US$) for SkyeVine Proprietary Limited $319 $319

During the year the group began litigation to recover an outstanding debt of R2.7 million. Once documents were served 

a counter-claim was received. The directors are defending the claim and do not believe the case will result in a loss to 

the group.

35. Post-reporting date events
No material fact or circumstance has occurred between year-end and the date of this report which has a material impact on 

the consolidated and separate financial position of the company.

Notes to annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 30 April 2012

ELLIES INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2012 •••• 92



Notice of annual general meeting

Ellies Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number: 2007/007084/06)

JSE code ELI  ISIN: ZAE000103081

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of 

shareholders of Ellies Holdings Limited (“Ellies” or “the 

company”) will be held at 94 Eloff Street Ext, Village Deep, 

Johannesburg 2001 on Wednesday, 28 November 2012 at 

12:00 for the following purposes:

1.  To consider, receive and adopt the annual financial 

statements of the company and the group for the financial 

year ended 30 April 2012, together with the reports of the 

directors, the audit committee and the auditors thereon;

2.  To transact such other business as may be transacted at 

an Annual General Meeting of a company including the 

re-appointment of the auditors, members of the audit and 

risk committee and the re-election of retiring directors; 

and

3.  To consider and, if deemed fit, to pass, with or without 

modification, the special and ordinary resolutions set out 

below.

NB: Section 63(1) of the Companies Act – 

Identification of meeting participants

Kindly note that:

• a shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is 

entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, participate in and vote 

at the meeting in the place of the shareholder;

• meeting participants (including proxies) are required 

to provide reasonably satisfactory identification before 

being entitled to attend or participate in a shareholders’ 

meeting; and

• the Chairman must be reasonably satisfied that the right 

of any person to participate in and vote (whether as a 

shareholder or as a proxy for a shareholder) has been 

reasonably verified.

Forms of identification include valid identity documents, 

drivers’ licences and passports.

The record date for determining which shareholders are 

entitled to:

i.  receive notice of the Annual General Meeting is Friday, 

19 October 2012; and

ii.  participate in and vote at the Annual General Meeting is 

Friday, 23 November 2012, in terms of section 62(3)(a), as 

read with section 59 of the South African Companies Act 

(Act 71 of 2008) as amended (the “Companies Act”):

Special resolution number 1: Share repurchases

“Resolved that the board of directors of the company (“board 

of directors”) be authorised by way of a general authority to 

approve the repurchase by the company or its subsidiaries 

of shares of the company on such terms and conditions 

and in such amounts that the directors of the company 

may determine subject to the company’s Memorandum of 

Incorporation (previously Articles and Association) (“MOI”), 

the JSE Limited (“JSE”) Listings Requirements and the 

Companies Act, 2008 (the “Companies Act”) on the following 

bases:

1.  repurchases of shares must be effected through the 

order book operated by the JSE trading system, and done 

without any prior understanding or arrangement between 

the company and the counter-party;

2.  at any point in time, the company may only appoint one 

agent to effect repurchases on its behalf;

3.  the company (or any subsidiary) must be authorised 

thereto by its MOI;

4.  the number of shares which may be acquired pursuant 

to this authority in any financial year (which commenced 

1 May 2012) may not in the aggregate exceed 20% (twenty 

percent) (or 10% (ten percent) where such acquisitions are 

effected by a subsidiary) of the company’s share capital as 

at the date of this notice of Annual General Meeting;

5.  repurchases of shares may not be made at a price more than 

10% (ten percent) above the weighted average of the market 

value on the JSE of the shares in question for the 5 (five) 

business days immediately preceding the repurchase;

6.  repurchases may not take place during a prohibited 

period (as defined in paragraph 3.67 of the JSE Listings 

Requirements) unless a repurchase programme (where 

the dates and quantities of shares to be repurchased during 

the prohibited period are fixed) is in place and full details 

thereof announced on SENS prior to commencement of 

the prohibited period;

7.  after the company has repurchased shares which 

constitute, on a cumulative basis, 3% (three percent) of the 

number of shares in issue (at the time that authority from 

shareholders for the repurchase is granted), the company 

shall publish an announcement to such effect, or any 

other announcements that may be required in such regard 

in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements which may be 

applicable from time to time;

8.  a resolution by the board of directors must be passed 

that the board of directors of the company authorises the 

repurchase, that the company and the relevant subsidiaries 

have passed the solvency and liquidity test as set out in 

section 4 of the Companies Act and that, since the test was 

performed, there have been no material changes to the 

financial position of the group; and

9.  this general authority shall be valid until the next Annual 

General Meeting of the company or for 15 (fifteen) months 

from the date of passing of this special resolution, 

whichever period is shorter.”
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Notice of annual general meeting (continued)

In accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements, the 

directors record that:

Although there is no immediate intention to effect a 

repurchase of securities of the company, the directors would 

utilise the general authority to repurchase securities as 

and when suitable opportunities present themselves, which 

opportunities may require expeditious and immediate action.

The directors undertake that, after considering the maximum 

number of securities which may be repurchased and the 

price at which the repurchases may take place pursuant to 

this general authority to repurchase securities, for a period 

of 12 (twelve) months after the date of notice of this Annual 

General Meeting:

• the company and the group will in the ordinary course of 

business be able to pay its debts;

• the assets of the company and the group will be in excess 

of the liabilities of the company and the group fairly valued 

in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards; and

• the working capital, share capital and reserves of the 

company and of the group will be adequate for ordinary 

business purposes.

The following additional information, some of which may 

appear elsewhere in the annual report of which this notice 

forms part, is provided in terms of paragraph 11.26 of the JSE 

Listings Requirements for purposes of this general authority:

• Directors and management – pages 14, 15 and 16

• Major shareholders – page 46

• Directors’ interests in ordinary shares – page 55

• Share capital of the company – pages 53 and 76

Litigation statement
The directors, whose names appear on pages 14 and 15 of the 

integrated annual report of which this notice forms part, are 

not aware of any legal or arbitration proceedings, including 

proceedings that are pending or threatened, that may have 

or have had in the recent past (being at least the previous 

12 (twelve) months) a material effect on the group’s financial 

position.

Directors’ responsibility statement
The directors, whose names appear on pages 14 and 15 of 

the integrated annual report of which this notice forms part, 

collectively and individually, accept full responsibility for 

the accuracy of the information pertaining to this special 

resolution and certify that, to the best of their knowledge 

and belief, there are no facts that have been omitted which 

would make any statement false or misleading, and that 

all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been 

made and that the special resolution contains all information 

required in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements.

Material changes
Other than the facts and developments reported on in the 

integrated annual report of which this notice forms part, 

there have been no material changes in the affairs or financial 

position of the company and its subsidiaries since the date of 

signature of the audit report for the year ended 30 April 2012 

and up to the date of this notice.

Reasons for and effects of special resolution 1
The reason for Special Resolution 1 is to afford directors of 

the company or a subsidiary of the company general authority 

to effect a repurchase of the company’s shares on the JSE. 

The effect of the resolution will be that the directors will have 

the authority, subject to the JSE Listings Requirements and 

the Companies Act, to effect acquisitions of the company’s 

shares on the JSE.

Special resolution number 2: Approval of fees 

payable to non-executive directors: 2012/2013

“Resolved that the fees payable by the company to the non-

executive directors for their services as directors (in terms 

of section 66 of the Companies Act) for the financial year 

ending 30 April 2013, as set out hereunder, be and are hereby 

approved for a period of 2 (two) years from the passing of this 

resolution or until its renewal, whichever is the earliest, as 

follows:

Directors’ fees for the financial year ending 30 April 2013:

• Lead independent director R300 000

• Other non-executive directors:

• annual base fee R190 000

• chairperson of a sub-committee R35 000

• participation and membership of a 

sub-committee, additional R25 000

Reason for special resolution 2
The reason for special resolution 2 is to obtain shareholder 

approval by way of a special resolution in accordance with 

section 66(9) of the Companies Act, for the payment by the 

company of remuneration to each of the non-executive 

directors of the company for each non-executive director’s 

services as a non-executive director for the ensuing year 

for the amounts set out in special resolution 2. The effect of 

special resolution 2 is that, if approved by the shareholders 

at the Annual General Meeting, the fees payable to non-

executive directors until the next Annual General Meeting will 

be as set out above.

Special resolution number 3: Financial assistance 

to related or inter-related companies

“Resolved that, to the extent required by the Companies 

Act, , the Board of directors of the company may, subject 

to compliance with the requirements of the company’s 

Memorandum of Incorporation, the Companies Act and the 

JSE Listings Requirements, each as presently constituted 

and as amended from time to time, authorise the company 

to provide direct or indirect financial assistance in terms of 
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section 45 of the Companies Act by way of loans, guarantees, 

the provision of security or otherwise, to any of its present or 

future subsidiaries and/or any other company or corporation 

that is or becomes related or inter-related (as defined in 

the Companies Act) to the company for any purpose or in 

connection with any matter, such authority to endure until the 

Annual General Meeting of the company, provided that such 

authority shall not extend beyond 2 (two) years.”

Reason for and effects of special resolution 3
The company, when the need arises, provides loans and/or 

guarantees loans or other obligations of its subsidiaries. 

The company would like the ability to continue to provide 

financial assistance, if necessary, also in other circumstances, 

in accordance with section 45 of the Companies Act. 

This authority is necessary for the company to continue to 

provide financial assistance in appropriate circumstances. 

Under the Companies Act, the company will, however, require 

the special resolution referred to above to be adopted, provided 

that the Board of directors of the company be satisfied that the 

terms under which the financial assistance is proposed to be 

given are fair and reasonable to the company and, immediately 

after providing the financial assistance, the company would 

satisfy the solvency and liquidity test contemplated in the 

Companies Act. In the circumstances and in order to, inter 

alia, ensure that the company’s subsidiaries and other related 

and inter-related companies and corporations have access 

to financing and/or financial backing from the company 

(as opposed to banks), it is necessary to obtain the approval 

of shareholders, as set out in special resolution number 3.

Therefore, the reason for, and effect of, special resolution 

number 3 is to permit the company to provide direct or 

indirect financial assistance (within the meaning attributed to 

that term in section 45 of the Companies Act) to the entities 

referred to in special resolution number 3 above.

Special resolution number 4: Conversion of shares

“Resolved in terms of Regulation 31(6) of the Companies 

Act  and Article 8 of the Company’s existing Memorandum 

of Incorporation that all the ordinary shares in the 

company (comprising both the issued shares and the 

authorised and unissued shares) be and are hereby 

converted from ordinary shares with a nominal par value of 

R0,00001 each into shares of no par value on the basis that 

each existing ordinary share with a par value of R0,00001 each 

be converted into one ordinary share with no par value without 

altering the substance of the specific rights and privileges 

associated with each share and that the company’s existing 

Memorandum of Incorporation be amended accordingly.”

Reason for and effect of special resolution 4
The reason for special resolution 4 is to convert all the 

ordinary shares of the company from ordinary shares with 

a par value of R0,00001 cent each into ordinary shares of 

no par value in compliance with the requirements of the 

Companies Act.

The effect of special resolution 4 is that the company’s ordinary 

shares will be converted from 800 000 000 authorised ordinary 

shares with a par value of R0,00001 each and 303 505 691 

issued ordinary shares with a par value of R0,00001 each into 

800 000 000 authorised ordinary shares of no par value and 

303 505 691 issued ordinary shares of no par value.

Shareholders are referred to the Board report in respect of 

the proposed resolution to convert Ellies’ par value shares 

into no par value shares set out in Annexure A to this notice.

Special resolution number 5: Adoption of new 

Memorandum of Incorporation

“Resolved that, subject to special resolution 4 above being 

passed by the requisite majority of shareholders and 

accordingly being adopted in terms of section 16(1) of the 

Companies Act, the company’s existing Memorandum of 

Incorporation shall be and are hereby substituted in its 

entirety with the Memorandum of Incorporation tabled at 

this Annual General Meeting and initialled by the Chairman 

for identification purposes (the “new Memorandum of 

Incorporation”). The new Memorandum of Incorporation will 

take effect from the date of filing of the new Memorandum of 

Incorporation with the Companies and Intellectual Properties 

Commission.”

Reason for and effect of special resolution 5
The Board of directors of the Company has passed a resolution 

proposing that special resolution 5 be put to shareholders 

for the purpose of ensuring that the company adopts a new 

Memorandum of Incorporation which is compliant with the 

Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements.

The new Memorandum of Incorporation is available for 

inspection at the company’s registered office, being 94 Eloff 

Street Ext, Village Deep from the date of this notice and will 

continue to be available until the close of the Annual General 

Meeting.

In order for each of special resolutions 1 to 5 to be adopted, 

the support of at least 75% (seventy-five percent) of the total 

number of votes exercisable by shareholders, present in 

person or by proxy, is required.

Ordinary resolution number 1: Adoption of annual 

financial statements

“Resolved that the annual financial statements of 

the company for the year ended 30 April 2012, including 

the Directors’ report and the report of the audit committee, be 

and are hereby received and adopted.”

Ordinary resolution number 2: General authority 

to issue shares for cash

“Resolved that, subject to the restrictions set out below, and 

subject to the provisions of the Companies Act,  and the JSE 

Listings Requirements, the directors of the company be and are 

hereby authorised until this authority lapses at the next Annual 

General Meeting of the company, provided that this authority 
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Notice of annual general meeting (continued)

shall not extend beyond 15 (fifteen) months, to allot and issue 

shares of the company for cash, on the following bases:

a)   the shares which are the subject of the issue for cash must 

be of a class already in issue or, where this is not the case, 

must be limited to such shares or rights as are convertible 

into a class already in issue;

b)  the allotment and issue of shares for cash shall be made 

only to persons qualifying as “public shareholders”, as 

defined in the JSE Listings Requirements, and not to 

“related parties”;

c)  shares which are the subject of general issues for cash:

 (i)  in aggregate in any one financial year may not exceed 

15% (fifteen percent) of the company’s shares in issue 

of that class (for purposes of determining the shares 

comprising the 15% (fifteen percent) number in any 

one year, account must be taken of the dilution effect, 

in the year of issue of options or convertible securities, 

by including the number of any equity securities which 

may be issued in future arising out of the issue of such 

options/convertible securities);

 (ii)  of a particular class will be aggregated with any 

securities that are compulsorily convertible into 

securities of that class and, in the case of the issue 

of compulsorily convertible securities, by including 

the number of equity securities which may be issued 

in future arising out of the issue of such options/

convertible securities);

 (iii)  as regards the number of shares which may be issued 

(the 15% (fifteen percent) number), same shall be 

based on the number of shares of that class in issue 

added to those that may be issued in future (arising 

from the conversion of options/convertible securities), 

at the date of such application:

  (1)  less any shares of the class issued, or to be 

issued in future arising from options/convertible 

securities issued, during the current financial year 

(which commences on 1 May 2012);

  (2)  plus any shares of that class to be issued 

pursuant to:

   (aa)  a rights issue which has been announced, is 

irrevocable and is fully underwritten; or

   (bb)  an acquisition (in respect of which final terms 

have been announced) which acquisition issue 

securities may be included as though they were 

securities in issue at the date of application;

d)   the maximum discount at which shares may be issued is 

10% (ten percent) of the weighted average traded of such 

shares measured over the 30 (thirty) business days prior to 

the date that the price of the issue is agreed between the 

company and the party subscribing for the shares;

e)   after the company has issued shares in terms of this 

general authority to issue shares for cash representing 

on a cumulative basis within a financial year, 5% (five 

percent) or more of the number of shares in issue prior to 

that issue, the company shall publish an announcement 

containing full details of that issue, including:

 (i)  the number of shares issued;

 (ii)  the average discount to the weighted average traded 

price of the shares over the 30 (thirty) business days 

prior to the date that the issue is agreed in writing 

between the company and the party/ies subscribing 

for the shares; and

 (iii)  the effects of the issue on the net asset value per 

share, net tangible asset value per share, earnings 

per share, headline earnings per share, and if 

applicable diluted earnings and diluted headline 

earnings per share.”

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, in order for 

ordinary resolution 2 to be adopted, the support of at least 

75% (seventy-five percent) of the total number of votes 

exercisable by shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is 

required to pass this resolution.

Ordinary resolution number 3: Unissued ordinary 

shares

“Resolved that the authorised and unissued ordinary share 

capital of the company be and is hereby placed under the 

control of the directors of the company which directors are, 

subject to the Rules and Regulations of the JSE Limited and 

the provisions of the Companies Act, as amended, authorised 

to allot and issue any of such shares at such time or times, 

to such person or persons, company or companies and upon 

such terms and conditions as they may determine, such 

authority to remain in force until the next Annual General 

Meeting of the company.”

Ordinary resolution number 4: Confirmation of 

appointment of FS Mkhize as a director of the 

company

“Resolved that the appointment of FS Mkhize as a director 

of the company be confirmed.”

A brief curriculum vitae is set out in the annual report 

of which this notice forms part.

Ordinary resolution number 5: Confirmation of 

appointment of M Moodley as a director of the 

company

“Resolved that the appointment of M Moodley as a director 

of the company be confirmed.”

A brief curriculum vitae is set out in the annual report 

of which this notice forms part.
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Ordinary resolution number 6: Re-election 

of AC Brooking as a director of the company

“Resolved that AC Brooking be re-elected as a director of the 

company.”

A brief curriculum vitae is set out in the annual report 

of which this notice forms part.

Ordinary resolution number 7: Re-election 

of MR Goodford as a director of the company

“Resolved that MR Goodford be re-elected as a director of the 

company.”

A brief curriculum vitae is set out in the annual report 

of which this notice forms part.

Ordinary resolution number 8: Re-election 

of RE Otto as a director of the company

“Resolved that RE Otto be re-elected as a director of the 

company.”

A brief curriculum vitae is set out in the annual report 

of which this notice forms part.

Ordinary resolution number 9: Re-appointment 

of the members of the audit and risk committee

“Resolved that the following directors be re-appointed as 

members of the audit and risk committee with effect from 

the conclusion of this Annual General Meeting in terms 

of section 94(2) of the Companies Act:

• FS Mkhize (Chairman);

• OD Fortuin; and

• M Moodley.”

A brief curriculum vitae in respect of the above audit and risk 

committee members can be found on pages 14 and 15.

Ordinary resolution number 10: Re-appointment of 

auditors

“Resolved that PKF (Jhb) Inc be re-appointed as auditors 

of the company from the conclusion of this Annual General 

Meeting until the conclusion of the next Annual General 

Meeting of the company.”

Ordinary resolution number 11: Adoption of share 

incentive scheme

“Resolved that the Ellies Group Share Option and Share 

Purchase Scheme a copy of which shall be tabled at the 

Annual General Meeting (and initialled by the Chairman of 

the meeting for identification purposes) be and it is hereby 

approved and adopted.”

As required by the JSE Listings Requirements, ordinary 

resolution 11 is subject to not less than 75% (seventy-five 

percent) of shareholders, present in person or by proxy 

and entitled to vote at the Annual General Meeting held to 

consider, inter alia, this resolution, voting in favour thereof.

The scheme document is available for inspection at the 

registered office of the company, 94 Eloff Street Ext, 

Village Deep, Johannesburg as from the date of this notice 

and will continue to be so available until the close of the 

Annual General Meeting.

Ordinary resolution number 12: Signature 

of documentation

“Resolved that any director or the Company secretary of 

the company be and is hereby authorised to sign all such 

documentation and do all such things as may be necessary 

for or incidental to the implementation of special resolution 

numbers 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 and ordinary resolution numbers 1, 2, 

3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11 which are passed by the members 

in accordance with and subject to the terms thereof.”

In order for each of ordinary resolutions 1 to 10 and ordinary 

resolution 12 to be adopted, the support of more than 50% 

(fifty percent) of the total number of votes exercisable by 

shareholders, present in person or by proxy, is required.

Statement in terms of section 62(3)(e) of the 
Companies Act
Members holding certificated shares and members holding 

shares in dematerialised form in “own name”:

• may attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting; 

alternatively

• may appoint an individual as a proxy (who need not also 

be a member of the company) to attend, participate in 

and speak and vote in your place at the Annual General 

Meeting by completing the attached form of proxy and 

returning it to the registered office of the company or to 

the transfer secretaries, by no later than 48 (forty-eight) 

hours prior to the Annual General Meeting. Alternatively, 

the form of proxy may be handed to the Chairman of the 

Annual General Meeting at the Annual General Meeting 

at any time prior to the commencement of the Annual 

General Meeting. Please note that your proxy may delegate 

his/her authority to act on your behalf to another person, 

subject to the restrictions set out in the attached form of 

proxy. Please also note that the attached form of proxy 

must be delivered to the registered office of the company 

or to the transfer secretaries or handed to the Chairman 

of the Annual General Meeting, before your proxy may 

exercise any of your rights as a member of the company at 

the Annual General Meeting.

Please note that any member of the company that is a company 

may authorise any person to act as its representative at the 

Annual General Meeting.

Please also note that section 63(1) of the Companies 

Act requires that persons wishing to participate in the 

Annual General Meeting (including the aforementioned 

representative) must provide satisfactory identification before 

they may so participate.
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Notice to owners of dematerialised shares

Please note that if you are the owner of dematerialised shares 

held through a CSDP or broker (or their nominee) and are 

not registered as an “own name” dematerialised shareholder 

then you are not a registered shareholder of the company, but 

your CSDP or broker (or their nominee) would be.

Accordingly, in these circumstances, subject to the mandate 

between yourself and your CSDP or broker, as the case 

may be:

• if you wish to attend the Annual General Meeting you must 

contact your CSDP or broker, and obtain the relevant letter 

of representation from it; alternatively

• if you are unable to attend the Annual General Meeting 

but wish to be represented at the Annual General 

Meeting, you must contact your CSDP or broker, and 

furnish it with your voting instructions in respect of the 

Annual General Meeting and/or request it to appoint a 

proxy. You must not complete the attached form of proxy. 

The instructions must be provided in accordance with 

the mandate between yourself and your CSDP or broker, 

within the time period required by your CSDP or broker.

CSDP’s, brokers or their nominees, as the case may 

be, recorded in the company’s sub-register as holders 

of dematerialised shares should, when authorised in terms 

of their mandate or instructed to do so by the owner on 

behalf of whom they hold dematerialised shares, vote 

by either appointing a duly authorised representative 

to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting or by 

completing the attached form of proxy in accordance with 

the instructions thereon and returning it to the registered 

office of the company or to the transfer secretaries, by no 

later than 48 (forty-eight) hours prior to the Annual General 

Meeting. Alternatively, the form of proxy may be handed to 

the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting at the Annual 

General Meeting at any time prior to the commencement 

of the Annual General Meeting.

Voting at the Annual General Meeting

In order to more effectively record the votes and give effect 

to the intentions of members, voting on all special and 

ordinary resolutions will be conducted by way of a poll.

By order of the board

Probity Business Services Proprietary Limited

Company secretary

15 October 2012

Registered address
94 Eloff Street Ext

Village Deep

Johannesburg

2001

Transfer Secretaries
Link Market Services South Africa Proprietary Limited

13th Floor, Rennie House

19 Ameshoff Street

Braamfontein, 2001

(PO Box 4844, Johannesburg, 2000)
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Annexure A

Board report of the conversion of the par 

value ordinary shares of the company into 

ordinary shares of no par value

Background

The Companies Act, 2008 (Act 71 of 2008) (the “Companies 

Act”) does not permit the creation of par value shares or 

shares with a nominal value. In terms of the transitional 

arrangements detailed in Schedule 5 of the Companies Act 

and the Companies Regulations 2011 (the “Regulations”), 

pre-existing companies that already have par value shares in 

issue are allowed to retain such shares but cannot authorise 

any new par value shares after 1 April 2011. In order to 

conform the company’s share capital to the requirements of 

the Companies Act such that the company’s shares do not 

have a par value and accordingly that the company may, inter 

alia, authorise new ordinary shares of no par value, the board 

of directors of the company recommends that the ordinary 

shares be converted to shares having no par value pursuant 

to the provisions of Regulation 31 of the Regulations.

Regulation 31(7) of the Regulations requires the board of 

a company to cause a report to be prepared in respect of a 

proposed resolution to convert any par value shares into no 

par value shares (the “Report”). This document constitutes 

the Report in relation to the proposed conversion, as is 

defined below.

Ellies Holdings Limited (“Ellies” or “the company”) has 

ordinary shares with a par value of R0,00001 each, with 

800 000 000 authorised shares, 303 505 691 of which are 

issued. Ellies intends to convert its shares into shares of no 

par value in order to be compliant with the Companies Act 

and the Regulations and to enable the company to increase 

its authorised share capital (the “proposed conversion”).

The board of directors of the company has satisfied itself that 

the conversion from ordinary shares of par value to ordinary 

shares of no par value will have no effect on the shareholders 

of the company.

Accordingly, shareholders of the company will be requested 

at the Annual General Meeting of Ellies shareholders to be 

held on Wednesday, 28 November 2012 (the “Annual General 

Meeting”), to approve the special resolution required to 

authorise the proposed conversion to convert the company’s 

authorised and issued ordinary shares with a par value of 

R0,00001 each (“existing shares”) into ordinary shares of no 

par value on the basis that each existing ordinary share will 

be converted into one ordinary no par value share.

The special resolution approving the conversion of the 

company’s existing shares into shares of no par value is subject 

to at least 75% of shareholders of the company present, 

in person or by proxy voting in favour of such resolution at 

the general meeting of the company.

The Report

In terms of Regulation 31(7) of the Regulations the Report is 

required to, at a minimum:

• state all information relevant to the value of the securities 

affected by the proposed conversion;

• identify holders of the company’s securities affected by the 

proposed conversion;

• describe the material effects that the proposed conversion 

will have on the rights of the holders of the conversion 

of the company’s securities affected by the proposed 

conversion; and

• evaluate any material adverse effects of the proposed 

arrangement against the compensation that any of those 

persons will receive in terms of the arrangement.

Information relevant to the value of the securities 
affected by the proposed conversion
The securities affected by the proposed conversion are the 

authorised and issued ordinary shares in the share capital of 

Ellies currently comprising 800 000 000 authorised shares of 

R0,00001 each of which 303 505 961 shares of R0,00001 each 

have been issued.

Ellies has no other class of authorised or issued shares.

The company’s ordinary shares are listed on the Main Board 

of the JSE Limited, trading under the Share code ELI.

Information in relation to the historic net asset value, 

earnings, headline earnings and dividends in respect of 

Ellies shares is detailed in the historical financial statements 

of Ellies for the three years ended 30 April 2009, 2010 

and 2011 and are available on the company’s website at 

www.elliesholdings.com and for inspection at the company’s 

registered office, being 94 Eloff Street Ext, Village Deep, 

Johannesburg, 2001.

Information in relation to the net asset value, earnings, 

headline earnings and dividends in respect of Ellies shares is 

detailed in the financial statements of Ellies for the year ended 

30 April 2012 as set out in the annual report in which this report 

is contained from the date of issue of the notice of Annual 

General Meeting pertaining to the proposed conversion and the 

date on which the Annual General Meeting is held.

Given that the percentage of the issued share capital 

of Ellies held by a shareholder and the rights attaching to that 

shareholder will be unaffected by the proposed conversion, 

the proposed conversion will have no impact on the historic 

net asset value, earnings, headline earnings and distributions 

per ordinary share of the company and should have no impact 

on the price at which ordinary shares trade on the JSE Limited.

Holders of the company’s securities affected by the 
proposed conversion
The proposed conversion will affect the holders of 

Ellies’ ordinary shares who comprise the holders of all 
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of Ellies’ issued shares of R0,00001 each as at the record 

date for the Annual General Meeting as will be set out in 

the annual report in which this report is contained. However, 

the only effect on Ellies shareholders will be that such holder 

will for every par value share previously held now hold one 

share of no par value, which share will represent the same 

percentage of the total issued shares as previously held by 

that shareholder. 

Material effects of the proposed conversion on 
Ellies shareholders
The proposed conversion results in the conversion of 

each share with a par value of R0,00001 into one share 

of no par value. 

Accordingly, after the proposed conversion, each shareholder 

will own one share of no par value for every Ellies share they 

held before the proposed conversion and the no par value 

shares they hold will represent the same proportion of the 

total issued share capital of Ellies as the par value shares 

they held represented of the total issued share capital 

of Ellies before the conversion.

Article 11.1 of Ellies’ existing Memorandum of Incorporation 

distinguishes between the holders of par value shares and 

no par value shares in respect of voting at general meeting 

conducted by way of a poll, providing that, “On a poll a 

member who is present in person or represented by proxy 

shall be entitled to that proportion of the total votes in the 

company which the aggregate amount of the nominal value 

of the securities held by him bears to the aggregate amount of 

the nominal value of all the securities of that class issued by 

the company or if the securities do not have a par value, shall 

be entitled to one vote in respect of each security he holds”. 

Given that Ellies has only one class of shares in issue with 

the same par value, the effect of Article 11.1 of Ellies’ existing 

Memorandum of Incorporation is that a shareholder enjoys 

the same effective voting rights on a poll whether the shares 

in question are par value or no par value shares.

The proposed conversion has no other impact on any of the 

rights attaching to the Ellies shares and the no par value 

shares will confer on a Ellies shareholder all of the same 

rights as they enjoyed as the holder of par value shares before 

the proposed conversion including (without limitation) rights 

to participate in the profits of Ellies on winding up. 

Evaluation of material adverse effects of the 
proposed conversion against compensation offered
As detailed above, the proposed conversion has no adverse 

effects on Ellies shareholders as they are in the same position 

and enjoy the same rights before and after the proposed 

conversion. 

There is no compensation being offered in the context 

of the proposed conversion as there are no adverse effects of 

the proposed conversion on Ellies shareholders.

Other provisions of Regulation 31

In terms of Regulation 31(9) of the Regulations, an Ellies 

shareholder affected by the proposed conversion who 

believes that the proposal does not adequately protect his or 

her or its rights or otherwise fails to satisfy the requirements 

of the Companies Act may apply to the High Court for an 

order and the High Court may make any order that is just and 

reasonable in the circumstances.

Annexure A (continued)
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Ellies Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration number: 2007/007084/06)

JSE code ELI  ISIN: ZAE000103081

For use by the holders of the company’s certificated ordinary shares (“certified shareholders”) and/or dematerialised 

ordinary shares held through a Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker who have selected “own name” 

registration (“own-name dematerialised shareholders”) at the Annual General Meeting of the company to be held on Wednesday, 

28 November 2012 at 94 Eloff Street Ext, Village Deep, Johannesburg at 12:00, or at any adjournment thereof if required. Additional 

forms of proxy are available from the transfer secretaries of the company. 

Not for use by holders of the company’s dematerialised ordinary shares who have not selected “own-name” registration. Such 

shareholders must contact their CSDP or broker timeously if they wish to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting and 

request that they be issued with the necessary authorisation to do so or provide the CSDP or broker timeously with their voting 

instructions should they not wish to attend the Annual General Meeting in order for the CSDP or broker to vote in accordance with 

their instructions at the Annual General Meeting.

I/We (Name in BLOCK LETTERS) 

of (Address)

being the registered holder of ordinary shares in the capital of the company, hereby appoint:

1. or failing him/her,

2. or failing him/her,

3. the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting,

as my/our proxy to act for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting, or any adjournment thereof, which will be held 

for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing with or without modification, the special and ordinary resolutions as 

detailed in the Notice of Annual General Meeting, and to vote for and/or against such resolutions and/or abstain from voting in 

respect of the ordinary shares registered in my/our name(s), in accordance with the following instructions:

Number of votes

In favour of Against Abstain

To pass special resolutions:

1.  To grant authority to effect share repurchases

2.  To approve fees payable to non-executive directors: 2012/2013

3.  To approve the provision of financial assistance to group inter-related companies

4.  Conversion of shares

5.  Adoption of new Memorandum of Incorporation

To pass ordinary resolutions:

1.  Adoption of annual financial statements

2.  To provide authority to issue shares for cash

3.  To place the unissued shares under the control of the directors

4.  To confirm the appointment of FS Mkhize as a director of the company

5.  To confirm the appointment of M Moodley as a director of the company

6.  To re-elect AC Brooking as a director of the company

7.  To re-elect MR Goodford as a director of the company

8.  To re-elect RE Otto as a director of the company

9.  To re-appoint members of the Audit and Risk Committee

10.  To re-appoint PKF (Jhb) Inc as auditors of the company

11.  Adoption of share incentive scheme

12.  To authorise the signature of documentation

(Indicated instructions to proxy in the spaces provided above.)

Unless otherwise instructed, my proxy may vote as he/she thinks fit.

Signed this day of 2012

Signature Assisted by (if applicable)

Form of proxy



Notes to the Form of Proxy

1.  Each shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (none of whom need be a shareholder of the company) to attend, 

speak and vote in place of that shareholder at the Annual General Meeting

2.  Shareholder(s) that are certificated or own-name dematerialised shareholders may insert the name of a proxy or the names of 

two alternative proxies of the member’s choice in the space/s provided, with or without deleting “the Chairman of the Annual 

General Meeting”, but any such deletion must be initialled by the shareholder/s. The person whose name stands first on this 

form of proxy and who is present at the Annual General Meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose 

names follow. If no proxy is named on a lodged form of proxy the Chairman shall be deemed to be appointed as the proxy.

3.  A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable by the 

shareholder in the appropriate box provided. Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise the proxy, in the case 

of any proxy other than the Chairman, to vote or abstain from voting as deemed fit and in the case of the Chairman to vote in 

favour of the resolution.

4.  A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the shareholder, but the total of the votes cast 

or abstained may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable in respect of the shares held by the shareholder.

5.  Forms of proxy must be lodged at or posted to Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd, 13th Floor, Rennie House, 

19 Ameshoff Street, Braamfontein, 2001 (PO Box 4844, Johannesburg, 2000) to be received not less than 48 hours prior to the 

Annual General Meeting.

6.  The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the Annual General 

Meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof, should such 

shareholder wish to do so. Where there are joint holders of shares, the vote of the first joint holder who tenders a vote, as 

determined by the order in which the names stand in the register of members, will be accepted.

7.  The Chairman of the Annual General Meeting may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or received, 

otherwise than in accordance with these notes, provided that, in respect of acceptances, the Chairman is satisfied as to the 

manner in which the shareholder concerned wishes to vote.

8.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity must be 

attached to this form of proxy unless previously recorded by the company or the transfer secretaries or waived by the Chairman 

of the Annual General Meeting.

9.  Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory/ies.

10.  A minor must be assisted by his/her parent guardian unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal capacity are 

produced or have been registered by the transfer secretaries.

11.  Where there are joint holders of any shares, only that holder whose name appears first in the register in respect of such shares 

need sign this form of proxy.
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